

Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance of Company Groups in Latin America





Corporate Governance of Company Groups in Latin America



This work is published under the responsibility of the Secretary-General of the OECD. The opinions expressed and arguments employed herein do not necessarily reflect the official views of OECD member countries.

This document and any map included herein are without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers and boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area.

Please cite this publication as:

OECD (2015), Corporate Governance of Company Groups in Latin America, OECD Publishing, Paris. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264241725-en

ISBN 978-92-64-24012-4 (print) ISBN 978-92-64-24172-5 (PDF)

The statistical data for Israel are supplied by and under the responsibility of the relevant Israeli authorities. The use of such data by the OECD is without prejudice to the status of the Golan Heights, East Jerusalem and Israeli settlements in the West Bank under the terms of international law

Corrigenda to OECD publications may be found on line at: www.oecd.org/about/publishing/corrigenda.htm. © OECD 2015

You can copy, download or print OECD content for your own use, and you can include excerpts from OECD publications, databases and multimedia products in your own documents, presentations, blogs, websites and teaching materials, provided that suitable acknowledgment of the source and copyright owner is given. All requests for public or commercial use and translation rights should be submitted to rights@oecd.org. Requests for permission to photocopy portions of this material for public or commercial use shall be addressed directly to the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC) at info@copyright.com or the Centre français d'exploitation du droit de copie (CFC) at contact@cfcopies.com.

Foreword

Company groups are the predominant corporate structure found in Latin America, comprising most of the listed companies in the region. Because they raise both important opportunities as well as risks for Latin American capital markets, policy-makers and regulators from the region are giving increased attention to such groups, including how best to ensure that their corporate governance practices contribute to stable and prosperous markets.

This publication responds to this growing interest by providing an overview of frameworks and experience in Latin America and internationally dealing with the challenges associated with corporate governance of company groups, with specific country chapters on Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Mexico and Peru. A first draft of the report was prepared based on input from a survey of the regulatory authorities of these countries, for discussion at the 17 November 2014 meeting of the Latin American Corporate Governance Roundtable's Task Force on Company Groups, and for the Roundtable's subsequent discussions of these issues on 18-19 November. It has been modified in light of the discussions and written comments, and subsequently agreed on by the Roundtable via written procedure.

The report builds on and makes use of the previous work of the Roundtable and its Task Force on Related Party Transactions (RPTs). The Task Force first began meeting in 2012 to exchange information among Latin American countries and beyond regarding successes and challenges involved in developing effective frameworks to prevent abuse of related party transactions and to work to improve these frameworks through country-specific information and recommendations for participating Latin American countries. The Task Force's main recommendations can be found on the OECD web site at www.oecd.org/daf/ca/LatinAmericanReportonRelatedParty Transactions.pdf.

The Task Force met again in Quito, Ecuador on 19 June 2013 to consider country progress in implementing the recommendations and called for further dialogue and follow-up, including on the issue of corporate governance challenges for company groups. The Task Force subsequently decided to expand its focus (and name) to encompass the broader range of corporate governance challenges specific to company groups. Its subsequent work in 2014 led to the development of this report.

Daniel Blume, Senior Policy Analyst in OECD's Directorate for Financial and Enterprise Affairs, Corporate Affairs Division, prepared this publication and co-authored the first chapter with consultant Pablo Souto of Global Outcomes, Argentina and with the benefit of input from consultant Andrés Bernal of Governance Consultants, Colombia. The country chapters were also drafted by Souto (Argentina, Chile and Mexico), Bernal (Colombia and Peru) and Blume (Brazil).

Contributions from Task Force participants have been crucial to the development of this report, including survey responses from CNV Argentina (Maria Luisa Streb and Mario Schiavina); CVM Brazil (Luciana Dias and Vicente Camilo); SVS Chile (Alejandra Valladares Muñoz); SFC Colombia (Clara Eugenia Castillo); CNBV Mexico (Yearim Valles); and SMV Peru (Carlos Rivero, Liliana Gil and Daniel Garcia). This report was also made possible by a financial contribution from the Spanish Securities regulator, Comisión Nacional Del Mercado de Valores (CNMV).

Table of contents

Executive summary	5
Chapter 1. International and Latin American overview	13
1.1. Introduction	14
1.2. Economic rationale for corporate groups and the role	
of corporate governance	15
1.3. OECD country experience with corporate governance	
of groups	19
1.4. Economic relevance of company groups in LatAm	24
1.5. What is an economic group in LatAm?	25
1.6. Structure of the regulatory and supervisory framework	26
1.7. Protection of minority shareholder rights	27
1.8. Economic groups and conflicts of interest	28
1.9. Multinational company groups and cross-border activity	31
1.10. Global and regional guidance on corporate governance	
of groups	31
1.11. Policy options and challenges	37
1.12. Conclusions	38
Notes	42
Chapter 2. Argentina	45
2.1. Data: Relevance of company and economic groups for the	
economy	46
2.2. Definitions	46
2.3. Protection of minority shareholder rights: Regulatory oversight	
and enforcement	47
2.4. Other corporate governance issues for groups	48
2.5. Corporate governance issues for multinational economic	
groups	49
2.6. Policy options for consideration	49
Notes	49
Chapter 3. Brazil	51
3.1. Data: Relevance of company and economic groups	
for the economy	52
3.2. Definitions	52

	3.3. Supervision of Brazilian company groups	53
	3.4. Protection of minority shareholder rights	54
	3.5. Related party transactions	55
	3.6. Other corporate governance issues for groups	56
	3.7. Corporate governance issues for multinational economic	
	groups	57
	3.8. Policy options for consideration	57
	Notes	57
Cha	pter 4. Chile	61
	4.1. Data: Relevance of company and economic groups	
	for the economy	62
	4.2. Definitions	63
	4.3. Protection of minority shareholder rights: Regulatory oversight	
	and enforcement	64
	4.4. Other corporate governance issues for groups	65
	4.5. Corporate governance issues for multinational economic	
	groups	66
	4.6. Policy options for consideration	66
	Notes	67
Cha	pter 5. Colombia	69
	5.1. Colombian company groups	70
	5.2. Definition and Regulation of Colombian Company Groups	71
	5.3. Supervision of Colombian company groups	72
	5.4. Restrictions on Colombian company groups	73
	5.5. Related party transactions and conflicts of interest	74
	5.6. New corporate governance benchmark in Colombia	76
	5.7. Policy options for consideration	77
	Notes	77
Cha	pter 6. Mexico	79
	6.1. Data: Relevance of company and economic groups	
	for the economy	80
	6.2. Definitions	80
	6.3. Protection of minority shareholder rights: Regulatory oversight	
	and enforcement	82
	6.4. Other corporate governance issues for groups	83
	6.5. Corporate governance issues for multinational economic	
	groups	83
	6.6. Policy options for consideration	84
	Notes	84

Chapter 7. Peru	85
7.1. Peruvian company groups	86
7.2. Definition and regulation of Peruvian company groups	86
7.3. Supervision of Peruvian company groups	87
7.4. Disclosure of information regarding company groups	87
7.5. Restrictions on Peruvian business groups	88
7.6. Related party transactions and conflicts of interest	89
7.7. Control environment	89
7.8. Policy options for consideration	89
Notes	90
References	91
Table	
1.1. Current regulatory structures in surveyed countries	27
Figure	
4.1. Number of Business Groups in Chile	62

Follow OECD Publications on:



7

http://twitter.com/OECD_Pubs



http://www.facebook.com/OECDPublications



http://www.linkedin.com/groups/OECD-Publications-4645871



http://www.youtube.com/oecdilibrary



http://www.oecd.org/oecddirect/

Executive summary

This report provides an overview of international and Latin American frameworks for addressing the challenges associated with corporate governance of company groups, including country chapters on Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Mexico and Peru. It is based on a 2014 survey of regulators from these countries, supplementary research and discussions held with participants to the OECD's Latin American Roundtable on Corporate Governance and its Task Force on Corporate Governance of Company Groups.

Data gathered for this report confirm the major importance of company groups as the predominant form of business in the largest Latin American economies. Their presence in capital and financial markets varies across countries; listed firms that are part of a company group account for more than 80% of market capitalisation in most countries reviewed. Similarly, company groups in the financial sector (conglomerates) are also quite large, constituting a potential source of financial instability due to their systemic importance. In certain countries, notably Brazil and Mexico, regulators have found that nearly every listed company is part of a company group (64 of the 66 companies on the IBOVESPA index in Brazil; and in 98% of listed companies on the Mexican Stock Exchange).

On a general level, regulatory frameworks in the region have defined company groups and established some specific regulation for groups, particularly with respect to disclosure (e.g. complying with International Financial Reporting Standards requirements for consolidated disclosure of accounts and for reporting information on group structures and ownership). But they generally provide less detail with respect to the particularities of being part of a group. Rather, certain provisions, such as for the review of related party transactions and protection of minority shareholder rights, have been conceived to be broadly applicable both to companies within groups as well as for stand-alone firms.

Nevertheless, recently issued regional and international corporate governance guidance as well as this report's review of international experience suggest scope for the development of more specific guidance – and potentially legal reforms – to strengthen governance of groups in the region, both because of their systemic importance to Latin American economies and because of some of the specific challenges and complexities involved. Among the Roundtable's key findings and recommendations are the following:

- Regional co-ordination. Interest was expressed to consider a regionally-coordinated approach to corporate governance issues involving multinational business groups, particularly in the case of the countries of Chile, Colombia, Mexico and Peru that have established the Integrated Latin American Market (MILA). Convergence to common standards could facilitate regional integration of capital markets, and a more efficient functioning of the domestic regulatory and supervisory frameworks. Such an approach could also reduce the risk of regulatory arbitrage.
- Regulation versus voluntary guidance. Finding the right balance between regulatory requirements and voluntary guidance is a challenge everywhere and raises particular issues in the Latin American context. Some Roundtable participants called for stronger regulation, pointing to a culture of ignoring voluntary guidance and only taking action if legally bound to do so. On the other hand, it was also suggested that regulation is complex and may lack sufficient flexibility to apply to the quite varied business models and structures of different groups in the region, and therefore could diminish their benefits and impede their efficiency. Principles-based frameworks, in the form of more group-specific voluntary guidance similar to that provided in recent updates to the Colombian and Peruvian corporate governance codes, should be explored further. However, institutional investors need to become more active and to demand adherence to good practices in order for more market-driven solutions based on voluntary guidance to work effectively.
- **Group structures.** While there is no consensus in the region on the desirability of trying to influence the overall economic and ownership structures of company groups, there is clearly interest in ensuring that such structures are transparent, well understood, and that mechanisms are in place to address conflicts of interest that may be related to such structures. Effective, risk-based and consolidated supervision based on an assessment of company groups' systemic importance and macroeconomic impact is a challenge that involves multiple regulators with different capacities and resources, making co-ordination and clarification of respective responsibilities and avoidance of duplicative or conflicting requirements an important priority.
- The role and functioning of boards. A fundamental challenge for boards of directors operating within country groups is to clarify whether the duty of loyalty of board members involves an obligation to act in the interest of the company they serve or to the group as a whole. In many Latin American countries, the legal framework clearly states that board members shall act in the interest of the firm they serve, but actual practices seem to diverge from this requirement. Regional best practice guidance suggests that certain board functions should be the main responsibility of the board of the holding company, which should be held responsible for implementation, communication, surveillance and enforcement, for example, with respect

- to the control function, governance practices and remuneration policies. Further development and adoption of principles-based mechanisms at the group level should be explored.
- The framework for control and related party transactions (RPTs). The Task Force recognised the greater complexity and challenges involved in the management of risks and assurance of internal controls and compliance across the group as a whole. Because of the complexity and diversity of business models involved in such groups, group-specific regulation has not emerged as a priority, with best practice guidance seen as better suited to address these issues. However, ensuring efficient and effective frameworks for the review of related party transactions remains a core concern for groups where regulation plays an important role, covered in greater detail in the Roundtable Task Force's 2013 report on this subject. Brazil's recent initiative to require ongoing reporting of material related party transactions provides added transparency beyond the annual IFRS reporting requirements established in most Latin American countries, and could be considered more widely, along with other initiatives to improve the quality of RPT reporting.
- Transparency and disclosure. A market-driven approach led by improved disclosure practices constitutes the cornerstone for improving the corporate governance of company groups. Some regulatory requirements are necessary, and most countries require extensive disclosure of ownership, financial and non-financial information for listed companies, but there remains scope for further improvements in the quality, detail and understandability of information reported. Clear information on ownership structures and ultimate beneficiaries should be complemented by disclosing relevant commercial and financial relationships among members of the group, so market players can have an accurate picture of the group's functioning. Further consideration should also be given to reporting requirements for non-listed members of a group, particularly with respect to material related party transactions impacting on the group as a whole or its listed members.
- Future research. Looking ahead, the Roundtable and Task Force support deepening of research on the issues cited above, as well as research on the characteristics and corporate governance practices of company groups in the region, the benefits and risks associated with them, and the regulatory frameworks for addressing such risks. Review of specific cases involving conflicts between the interests of a group's controlling shareholders and those of minority shareholders may help the Task Force to better understand both the strengths and limitations of current regulatory frameworks and enforcement mechanisms in participating countries. It will also be important to take into account how regulation may impede a group's ability to conduct its business efficiently.

Chapter 1

International and Latin American overview

This chapter provides an overview of frameworks and experience in Latin America and internationally in dealing with the challenges associated with corporate governance of company groups. It describes their economic rationale, benefits and relevance in Latin America, and how they are defined, overseen and regulated. It also delves into some of the risks and more specific challenges involved in ensuring protection of minority shareholder rights and managing or minimising conflicts of interest within groups. It notes the rising importance of Latin American-based multinational company groups. Finally, it reviews existing international and regional guidance on corporate governance of company groups before assessing the more specific policy options and challenges specific to Latin America. It concludes that there remains scope for further research, guidance, and potentially legislation, to strengthen corporate governance of company groups in the region.

1.1. Introduction

This report and other economic research has shown that industrial, financial and mixed conglomerates are the predominant corporate structure in Latin American economies, with important implications for corporate governance and capital markets. In Latin America, such groups are usually controlled by a dominant shareholder or group of shareholders, often through complex structures including the use of pyramids, cross-shareholdings and dual class shares. Such structures offer some advantages, such as greater flexibility to manage financing and investment needs among different members of the group than non-affiliated companies. Their greater size can also help them to attract capital market investment, and may also result in synergies and efficiencies by reducing information assymetries, enabling related companies to work together based on established relationships.

However, conflicts of interest between the interests of the group and individual companies can also arise, creating risks to the interests of a controlled company and its minority shareholders in cases where the controlling owner or company may seek to ensure that such companies act against their own interests in the broader interests of the group as a whole. The complex set of shareholder relationships and companies involved in some of these groups may also provide opportunities for abusive related party transactions or other measures that shift funds from one company to another in favour of the controlling owner's more concentrated holdings.

Yet, despite their predominance as a corporate structure in Latin America, corporate governance regulation and guidance has in some cases neglected to take account of some of the specific challenges, risks and opportunities associated with such groups. With this in mind, the Latin American Roundtable on Corporate Governance established a Task Force on Corporate Governance of Company Groups to work towards the development of a better understanding of policies and practices in the region and internationally on how corporate governance issues for groups are treated by law, regulation, and in practice; and how their corporate governance can be improved.

Already at the Roundtable's 2011 meeting, the challenges specific to corporate governance of economic groups were raised through a Discussion Note on "Corporate Governance Challenges for Economic Groups" prepared by the Center for Financial Stability of Argentina (Silvina Vatnick and Pablo Souto).

The report noted the predominance of economic groups or conglomerates in the Latin American region and called for further research and analysis of these issues. This survey of Latin American regulators represents a first, more systematic attempt to understand the differing contexts and frameworks in different Latin American countries, and to compare it to international experience and guidance on the subject.

This chapter is structured to begin in the next section with a general introduction to the economic context, benefits and challenges associated with company groups and their corporate governance; section 3 reports on different approaches taken to corporate governance of company groups in different OECD countries; sections 4 through 9 provide a more in-depth look at how these issues are dealt with in the Latin American region; and section 10 reviews international and regional guidance on this issue. The chapter concludes with a review of policy options and challenges for the region, followed by the Task Force's overall conclusions and next steps. Further details on the specific frameworks, policies and practices in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Mexico and Peru are covered in subsequent chapters on each of these countries.

1.2. Economic rationale for corporate groups and the role of corporate governance¹

The corporate governance debate has been largely shaped by the agency problems arising within individual firms and between different stakeholders. Policy-makers and practitioners have tended to focus most of their attention in recent decades on the governance systems of firms acting individually, rather than as part of a group. Additionally, global standard-setting institutions for the most part have taken this same approach, and consequently developed general principles that address the problems that arise at the firm level. However, governance issues arising in firms that are part of a company or economic group (see Box 1.1 for a discussion of how such groups are defined) have to date drawn relatively minor attention. Since successfully managing governance issues in economic groups also indirectly facilitates financial and economic integration (acting as a convergence mechanism), addressing these particular issues should also be part of a broader discussion.

Particular note should be made of economic groups in which most of the member companies are financial intermediaries, the so-called financial conglomerates. In these cases, the governance problems that are common to non-financial economic groups are expanded to include the particular challenges posed by this type of firm. On the one hand, there is the potential negative impact on certain stakeholders given the structure of financial intermediaries and the consequent effect on risk-sharing practices and

Box 1.1. Company and economic groups: What are they?

Previous work of the Roundtable (and some academic literature) has made the distinction between company groups and economic groups by suggesting that company groups refer to a more formal (legal) set of relationships generally involving a holding or controlling company and its subsidiaries; whereas an economic group can involve firms that may be unrelated in purpose and may not be formally linked, but nevertheless are related through common control. While this distinction can be useful for the purposes of analysis in this overview chapter, the Task Force survey of regulators has made clear that definitions and terms used for groups differ substantially across jurisdictions. International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) manage to avoid this definitional problem by applying its requirements for the filing of consolidated accounts to a group of firms controlled by another entity or individuals related to each other. In this context, "control is presumed when the parent acquires more than half of the voting rights of the entity. Even when more than one half of the voting rights is not acquired, control may be evidenced by power: over more than one half of the voting rights by virtue of an agreement with other investors; or to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity under a statute or an agreement; or to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors; or to cast the majority of votes at a meeting of the board of directors". However, this report continues to make distinctions between company and economic groups when it may be useful for the purposes of analysis, but also refers to groups more generally when such distinctions are not needed. In addition, the country chapters necessarily make reference to (and specify in detail) the definitions and terms used in each of those countries, which may differ from the definitions described above.

management within the group. On the other hand, the regulatory/supervisory function of financial intermediaries, in many countries, is carried out on a non-consolidated basis, therefore making it more difficult for the authorities to identify and enforce the protection of stakeholders' rights. Since governance standards for this type of institution have been developed by the Basel Committee for Banking Supervision, or the International Association of Insurance Supervisors, among others, these issues could be better addressed by a standard-setter able to provide a tailor-made response, which should be consistent with the OECD Principles.

A number of studies have approached this issue by trying first to identify the economic structures in the region and then to understand the rationale for such a wide presence of this phenomena; notably, the presence of groups holds true for most countries in the world, with the exception in some of the most developed countries. In the former cases, a relation-based governance structure is more common, in contrast to the latter case where the governance structure is more of the rule-based type (Li, 2003).³

The group structure raises many complex issues. One of the reasons behind the formation of such groups may be the synergies and efficiencies obtained through transactions and allocation of resources among companies within the same group, especially when financial institutions are involved, reducing the need to rely on outside sources of finance. Information asymmetries may also be reduced, allowing for companies to work together based on established relationships. These advantages have been found to be even stronger in the context of less developed economies, where weak enforcement, asymmetric information and greater difficulty to enforce contracts favours groups that are able to benefit from the lower transaction costs available through intragroup transactions. (Kirkpatrick, 2004). Historically, the regulatory and institutional shortcomings and the corresponding underdevelopment of capital markets in emerging markets have contributed to the formation of groups, which have found it more efficient to integrate in such a manner that they can secure long-term financing and/or access to key production inputs so as to minimize those costs, thereby creating "internal markets" for both. This is why some authors have characterized business or economic groups as hybrid forms of diversified organizations between firms and markets (Khanna and Yafeh, 2005). All of this suggests that incentives for related party transactions (RPTs) may be higher and more prevalent within groups than for stand-alone corporations. From this perspective, excessive constraints or regulatory burdens placed on such transactions will reduce the efficiency gains that group structures can potentially achieve.

However, academic research has found that there are also costs and potential risks associated with such structures. Conflicts of interest between majority and minority shareholders or between companies within the group may jeopardize the efficiency of firms and their competitiveness. Also, if economic groups are largely dominant, the formation of internal financial markets within each group may act as a deterrent for the development of financial markets; provided the close relationship between financial depth, macroeconomic stability and long-term growth, countries may be trapped into a vicious circle of low-growth and higher instability. Also, some authors argue that the presence of business groups may lead to rigid political systems influenced by the interests of concentrated wealth that may impede economic reforms, thereby reinforcing the vicious circle mentioned above.

In addition, in the absence of good corporate governance, a lack of transparency regarding the ownership structure and the conditions under which transactions with related-parties are conducted, the costs of monitoring such transactions (and the associated free-rider problem), and the cross appointment

of directors among firms that are members of a group all make it difficult for affected parties to identify and measure instances in which a company's or its shareholders' interests may be damaged, and to request redress.

Empirical evidence regarding the net effect of the costs and benefits of economic groups is still inconclusive (Perotti and Gelfer, 1999; Claessens, Djankov and Lang, 2000; Ramachandran et al., 2013; McCahery and Vermeulen, 2014). Similar considerations may be put forward when judging the supposed beneficial effects of having financial intermediaries as holding companies of business groups. Also, for OECD countries there is evidence of the existence of a non-linear relationship in this regard, so beneficial effects are apparent up to a certain point (Kirkpatrick, 2004). This may well not be a relevant issue to address when the controlling entity is actually the sole entity in the group; however, this is not always the case, and the presence of other stakeholders (minority shareholders, creditors, etc.) triggers public and private interest in the topic.

The way groups are structured depends on certain idiosyncratic factors within each country: pyramidal structures, cross shareholdings, blocks and multiple class shares are the most common mechanisms used for a controlling owner or owners to maintain widespread control of a group even in cases where their economic interests are disproportionately lower. The presence of a financial intermediary within the group – in many cases as the holding company – may add to the conflicts of interest and increase macro instability by including a financial channel to the vulnerability of the group. Adding to that, the presence of the state – either as a minority or controlling shareholder of a firm member of a group – poses additional challenges in terms of the impact it may have on corporate performance, and on the legal and regulatory response.

Ultimately, these structures allow controlling shareholders to drive a wedge between voting rights (equity holdings of voting shares that determine control of decision-making) and cash flow rights (assets disposal). This divergence enables controlling shareholders to exert disproportionate levels of control that are much higher than their actual economic interest in the individual companies that they control. This wedge between levels of control and economic interests has been documented in academic research to increase the incentive and tendency of the controlling shareholder to seek and reap private benefits of control at the expense of other stakeholders, mostly minority shareholders and creditors. Related-party transactions, self-damaging corporate strategies (including entrenchment of directors and senior managers), tunnelling, preferences on new shares issuances, and dividends policies are the usual mechanisms used to benefit the group at the expense of a particular member.

These factors may introduce a premium on the cost of external financing for firms which are part of a group and are perceived not to follow good governance practices that secure the rights of other stakeholders. Empirical evidence for Latin American corporations provide some support for this statement; interestingly, that financing premium is lower when the controlling shareholder is either a corporation or a family group, contrary to the case of institutional investors or the government as controlling shareholders (Cueto, 2008). If capital markets development is at an early stage and market liquidity is low, then exercising the exit option for minority investors could come at a cost for them; but in such environment, this option may not be a valid alternative for minority shareholders with significant holdings (i.e. institutional investors) (CEF, 2008). To minimise those costs, some economic groups have attempted to provide the market with clear signs of their commitment to implement and enforce good governance practices so as not to appropriate other stakeholders' benefits. Some of these mechanisms are: the inclusion of minority shareholders' special rights (pre-emptive and tag-along rights); relatively high levels of debt (by signalling their commitment to be monitored by external institutions); listing in capital markets with higher governance requirements; and high reported compliance rates with best practice corporate governance codes. As noted by Kirkpatrick (op.cit.), in the case of debt as a signalling mechanism, there is evidence that international syndicated loans are more effective than other types of indebtedness; however, idiosyncratic factors prevent this mechanism from being valid in all cases and circumstances. Similar evidence is found in Colombia, where group firms have fared better than non-group firms, because many of these firms have developed a track record and certain commitments to good practices that engender trust; the group therefore becomes associated with good performance and attracts higher financing (Mendoza, 2013).

From a more microeconomic perspective, the role and duties of board members in the context of groups raises complex issues, particularly in terms of the exercise of their legal duties, which may form the basis for public or private enforcement actions. In the case of a stand-alone company, the traditional duties of loyalty and care to the company are relatively clear. But the board member's duties may become fuzzier when they sit on the Board of a company within a defined company group (especially if they are appointed by the controlling shareholder). How countries deal with such challenges is described in greater detail in the next section.

1.3. OECD country experience with corporate governance of groups

Economic groups are common in most countries of the world, particularly in countries with concentrated ownership, but are less common in dispersed

ownership countries including the United States, United Kingdom and Australia. The lower incidence of economic group structures in these countries may be attributed to a variety of factors. For example, an important factor in the United States is the double taxation of inter-corporate dividends, which creates a disincentive for such group structures. Until recently, the Glass Steagal Act prevented banks from ownership roles that are allowed in other countries such as Germany and Japan. In addition, limited acceptance in these countries of multiple class shares by investors also makes it more difficult for a controlling owner with limited economic ownership to extend control through issuance of non-voting shares, which is common in many emerging markets as well as in developed countries such as Sweden where economic groups also play an important role. Not coincidentally, the United States, United Kingdom and Australia have strong concepts of fiduciary loyalty of directors to the companies whose boards they serve on and not to the wider group, developed in the courts.⁵

On the other hand, Germany (and a number of other countries particularly in Central and Eastern Europe that have followed the German model such as Latvia) has developed a more elaborated framework for corporate governance of company groups that seeks to balance the interests of the group and that of its associated companies. German law distinguishes between two types of groups each with different responsibilities: factual and contractual groups.

In the more common factual group case in Germany, when a company has factual control over another company through ownership of stocks or voting rights, the negative impact of any influence by the parent company must be disclosed, audited and compensated. If the board declares that the negative influence was not properly compensated, any shareholder may request a special investigation by the financial market regulator. The parent and its directors are liable not only to the subsidiary for the negative influence but also to the shareholders of the subsidiary caused by additional losses such as through a decline in the company's share price. Directors and members of the supervisory board may be liable separately and jointly to the subsidiary company if they covered up a negative influence of the parent company without obtaining compensation. For this model to work effectively, it is important that the board act in line with its responsibilities. The efficiency of the special investigation of disputes, which tends to take a long time, is also a critical factor.

The second German group governance model covering contractual groups (similar to a provision available to Brazilian groups but rarely used there) applies to company groups established by a contract of control. The contract, which must be approved by shareholders of both companies, gives the management board of a parent company the right to issue instructions to the subsidiary, which may involve transferring of profits from the subsidiary.

Creditors and shareholders are protected against losses in value through an obligation by the parent company to annually compensate losses. Shareholders in the subsidiary are further protected through establishment of a fixed dividend and the right to sell their shares to the parent at a fair price. Compensation may be provided in the form of cash or of shares of the parent or grandparent company. Reports from both Germany and Latvia suggest that enforcement in cases of disputes over the appropriate level of compensation can be problematic. Cases in Germany are reported to have taken as many as eight years to resolve. In Latvia, where a significant number of group companies use the contractual model, an OECD review of Latvia's corporate governance framework (not yet published) found that contractual agreements did not tend to specify terms and conditions for the provision of compensation for shareholders of subsidiary companies, making it difficult to enforce such provisions.

The concept of providing greater leeway to the holding company to manage the overall interests of the group has also been adopted to some extent in a number of other European countries through court case jurisprudence that has resulted in the application of the so-called "Rozenblum Doctrine", followed in France, Belgium and to some extent Italy. This doctrine sets out conditions under which a director may apply a "group defense" regarding the duty of loyalty for a decision that is not in the direct interests of the subsidiary company whose board he serves on under certain conditions. The group must be characterised by capital links between the companies; there is a strong, effective business integration among the companies of the group; and financial support for one company to another has an economic quid pro quo and does not break the balance of mutual commitments between the concerned companies; the support from the company must not exceed its possibilities or in other words it should not create a risk of bankruptcy for the company (Conac et al., 2007).

Court cases in France and Belgium have reaffirmed that the directors' duty of loyalty may extend to the group under certain conditions. For example, the OECD peer review of Belgium on its framework for related party transactions (OECD, 2012) cited a case where a company transferred money to a failing subsidiary, prompting shareholders in the parent company that incurred a loss and the market regulator to sue the directors for breach of loyalty. However, the court upheld the right of the directors to act in the interest of the group under certain conditions.

An April, 2011 European Commission Report of the Reflection Group on the Future of EU Company Law⁶ emphasised that "any EU legislation on the corporate governance of groups should seek to maintain and enhance the flexibility of the management of groups in its international business activities". The report suggested that transactions beneficial to the group but not in the

direct interest of the subsidiary can be considered as legitimate for directors provided that the interest of that company are safeguarded on balance. The Reflection Group stated that the parent corporation could be vested with a right and also a duty to manage the group and its constituent companies in accordance with the overall interest of the group. However, some members of the Reflection Group suggested that the board of the parent company should have a duty to manage the group only if they choose to. Considering the very different approaches taken in different EU member states, the Reflection Group did not reach a consensus on whether the EU Commission should adopt a recommendation recognising the interest of the group.

In many other countries, including the cases of the United States, United Kingdom and Australia already mentioned, as well as in Israel, the board's duty of loyalty is clearly defined in terms of the company he or she serves on and not the wider interests of the group. In Israel, this duty is further underpinned by requirements to have independent directors on the board who can only be elected by non-controlling shareholders. Independent board members comprise a majority on the Audit Committee, which must approve along with the board all extraordinary transactions. Furthermore, extraordinary transactions must be approved by a majority of shareholders who do not have an interest in the transaction. In the cases of Korea and Israel, minority shareholder rights are further reinforced through a refined fiduciary duty of controlling shareholders to other shareholders. Finally, Israel has also forbidden the participation of financial institutions in corporate groups as a way of reducing the potential for conflicts of interests within such group structures.

Regarding disclosure, many jurisdictions require company groups to report on their ownership and structure, backed by International Financial Reporting Standards (IAS 24 and IAS 27) requiring disclosure about related parties and the group for the purposes of preparing consolidated financial statements. In addition to requirements for consolidated accounting, in Japan, for example, shareholders of a parent company have the right to inspect books, records, financial data and the minutes of board and shareholder meetings of a subsidiary if they obtain permission of the court.

A 2002 high-level EU group of company law experts also issued a report (known as the "Winters Report") recommending that the parent company of each group should be made responsible for disclosing coherent and accurate information with regard to the group's structure and relations. Moreover, "especially with respect to non-financial disclosure, it should be ensured that – especially where listed companies are involved – a clear picture of the group's governance structure, including cross holdings and material shareholders' agreements, is given to the market and the public. In addition, companies could be required to provide specific information when they enter

into or exit from a group." (European Commission High Level Group of Company Law Experts, 2002).

The more recent high-level Reflection Group on the Future of EU Company Law (European Commission 2011) concluded that the EU has subsequently adopted a number of relevant requirements, but that the question remains "as to whether basic information on a listed company's group structure can be assessed to be easily accessible through the current regime of financial statements and annual reports." The report concluded that, "Although there are numerous and detailed rules on group information, there is no rule requiring an annual report, corporate governance statement or company web site to describe the main features of a company's group structure in a clear and investor-friendly manner. Currently, for example, some companies' annual reports contain a chapter on changes in group structure without providing information on the existing group structure."

A more ambitious structural reform has been adopted in Israel, where company groups have a large presence in the economy (the 24 largest groups accounted for over two-thirds of market capitalization as of 2013). In particular, the use of pyramid structures with multiple layers is widespread. Israeli authorities came to conclude that these pyramid structures created an increased risk of minority shareholder expropriation due to the wide gap they create between the controlling owner's economic interests in the company, which may be very low, while maintaining sufficient voting rights to control the company. More specifically, such structures enable a controlling owner to effectively gain control of a third-tier company in a pyramid with just 12.5 per cent of the cash flow rights, meaning that the economic risks can be spread to other shareholders even while the controlling shareholder maintains a relatively small share of the economic interest in the company. The Israeli government concluded that while such structures may have served an important purpose in the earlier stages of development to support corporate finance needs, the view was that such structures had become less necessary as a source of finance as the economy and its institutions became more advanced. To address these concerns, a novel approach based on two pillars was passed as Law by the Israeli Parliament in 2013, following a number of recommendations of a Committee on Increasing Competitiveness in the Economy established in 2010.

The first pillar prohibits cross-ownership of both significant financial entities and significant non-financial entities. Significant financial entities include banks, insurers and financial institutions with over approximately 11 billion dollars in assets. Significant non-financial entities include those with sales or outstanding debt of over approximately 2 billion dollars. The second pillar deals with pyramid structures involving Israeli companies that have either stocks or debt listed on the Israeli stock exchange. The law limits

pyramid structures to two tiers. There is a phase-in or transition period for existing structures requiring reduction to three tiers within four years and ultimately, within six years all existing pyramid structures will be reduced to two tiers. A two tier restriction is already in effect for all new formed structures.

1.4. Economic relevance of company groups in LatAm

Data gathered for this report confirm the major importance and relevance of company groups in the largest Latin American economies. Quantitative assessments of their presence in capital and financial markets varies across countries; listed firms that are part of a company group account for more than 80% of market capitalization in most countries. Similarly, company groups in the financial sector (conglomerates) are also quite large, therefore being a potential source of financial instability through their systemic importance. In certain countries, notably Brazil and Mexico, regulators have found that nearly every listed company in the country is part of a company group (for Brazil, 64 of the 66 companies on the IBOVESPA index; and in Mexico, 98% of listed companies on the Mexican Stock Exchange). While for other countries the numbers were somewhat lower, and in some cases regulators did not provide specific numbers, it was nevertheless clear that company and economic groups are the predominant form of business for listed companies in these markets.

One recent comparative review of 45 countries that included all six of the countries reviewed for this report along with Asian and OECD countries found Colombia (3rd), Mexico (4th), Chile (7th) and Mexico (9th) ranked among the leading countries in the world in terms of the proportion of aggregate market capitalization attributable to family-led company group firms as a percentage of total market capitalization (Masulis, Pham and Zein, 2011). The report also ranked the depth of pyramid structures in these countries and found Colombia to have the highest average number of layers in the world, while Chile and Brazil ranked fourth and fifth respectively.

In most countries, company groups have grown steadily, but their growth rate has somewhat stalled in recent years, as would be expected due to their current size and slower growth in the global economy since the financial crisis. Company groups are of diverse type, including financial and non-financial firms; in the former case, they are usually the largest groups within countries. Another feature worth mentioning is the presence of the State as an owner in the case of the largest company groups in most countries surveyed. Also, an increasing presence of multinational company groups headquartered in any of the countries in the region has been verified in the last decade.

The scope of analysis and policy discussion when it comes to business groups is not trivial in Latin America. As reported, groups in the region are

structured in ways that raise analytical challenges in, at least, five dimensions. First, in terms of their activities: financial, non-financial, and mixed groups; second, in their geographical scope: domestic, regional or global; third, in their ownership structure: wholly- or partially-owned subsidiaries or affiliated companies less formally linked but characterized by some degree of common ownership and control; fourth, in their controlling shareholder: privately- or state-owned; and fifth, in their public interest: a closed group of non-listed companies or having at least one listed member. Where to draw the line is no easy task in all five dimensions. However, the Task Force and Roundtable discussions noted the importance of prioritizing consideration of these different aspects in order to help focus consideration of such a vast and complex subject on those issues where its contribution could be most useful. Considering that the Roundtable in general tends to focus on listed companies where minority shareholder rights are an important consideration, and that securities regulators are a key participating constituency, the Task Force has therefore chosen to focus primarily on groups with partially-owned subsidiaries, whose main business is non-financial, that are controlled by the private sector, and that have at least one member listed in stock exchanges. Nevertheless, some of the findings and recommendations are also valid for other types of groups.

1.5. What is an economic group in LatAm?

Legal definitions of what a company or economic group is varies markedly in the surveyed countries. Some addressed this issue in general (through some provisions in the Companies Law or similar), while others are more specific to listed firms (through provisions in the Securities Market Law or similar). Also, the language of groups varies across countries: in Chile, Colombia, Mexico and Peru they are referred to mostly as business groups, whereas Argentina and Brazil used the term economic groups. When it comes to groups with financial members, conglomerate or financial conglomerate is the usual term used.

At one extreme, Argentina broadly defines controlling-controlled relationships between firms, without explicitly acknowledging what constitutes a group. At the other extreme, Mexico specifically defines business groups and establishes three different relationships structures (categories) that could be regarded as groups.

Relationships between companies forming a group are based primarily on shareholding considerations (direct or indirect voting and cash-flow rights) associated to controlling and controlled entities, and the possibility for one or more of them to exert significant (and in some cases, permanent¹⁰) influence over other members of the group; this provision is usually expressed in terms of the power to appoint a majority of the board (this is the case in Brazil, Chile,

Colombia and Peru) or to remove the majority of the board (Peru). Acting in concert is also an element of legislation that complements the definition of a controlling entity in most countries.

A two-stage approach is only applied by Colombia to define a group. In addition to the controlled-controlling relationship, a common purpose and strategy condition shall be met by companies to be regarded as a group. In some cases, alternative features are taken into account to define if a set of companies qualify as a group; for instance financial or management relationships that could be regarded as guided by a common interest or subject to that of another entity are also elements that may determine the existence of a group (Chile).

In Chile and Colombia, the regulatory authorities have the power to determine -de facto- that a set of firms are a business group if certain conditions are met. In the case of Brazil, economic groups are labeled as *de facto* groups when certain conditions are met, and not because the regulator can classify them as a group. An interesting unique feature in Brazil is that economic groups who wish to register themselves as a group, can do so on a voluntarily basis, the so-called *de jure* groups (only two listed firms define themselves in their respective bylaws as *de jure* groups). In Colombia, firms are obligated to report if they are part of a business group.

1.6. Structure of the regulatory and supervisory framework

Countries have not established restrictions in terms of the possibility to form business groups having both financial and non-financial firms; also, members of financial conglomerates are usually different types of intermediaries (banks, other credit institutions, insurance companies, fund managers, pension funds, etc.). Therefore, a recurrent fact is the presence of mixed business groups, which poses a challenge for regulators since different parts of the group will be supervised by different authorities, without necessarily doing so on a consolidated supervisory approach.

This is so because the current regulatory structures in surveyed countries are heterogeneous. As shown in the table below, only Colombia has an integrated regulatory and supervisory structure. Other countries rely more on coordination among separated entities as the most efficient way to deal with the presence of business groups. The issue here is not integrated vs coordinated regulatory and supervisory structure, but rather consolidated versus segmented regulatory and supervisory approach.

Therefore, many countries have established inter-agency coordination spheres; whether formally or not, most countries have developed such mechanisms as a response to minimize systemic risks in the financial markets (financial stability) derived from the presence of financial and mixed economic groups.

	Non-financial listed firms	Banks and non-banking credit firms ¹²	Insurance companies	Pension funds
Argentina	CNV	BCRA	SSN	N/A
Brazil	CVM	BCB	SUSEP	PREVIC
Chile	SVS	SBIF	SVS	SP
Colombia ¹³	Superfinanciera	Superfinanciera	Superfinanciera	Superfinanciera
Mexico	CNBV	CNBV	CNSF	CONSAR
Peru	SMV	SBS	SBS	SBS

Table 1.1. Current regulatory structures in surveyed countries

Source: OECD Survey of Latin American regulators.

Coordination has been structured around formal mechanisms between regulators (Argentina, Brazil and Peru), or establishing a superstructure such as a financial stability council with representation of relevant regulators (Chile and Mexico). These institutional arrangements also include other relevant governmental agencies, such as the Ministry of Finance, the tax authority, anti-money laundering agency, and the Central Bank. In some countries (Brazil and Mexico) such coordination goes beyond traditional exchange of information, and allows regulators to move towards a consolidated supervisory approach, for instance through joint in-situ supervision.

1.7. Protection of minority shareholder rights

The most common requirement that aims to protect minority shareholders rights in the case of company groups relates to disclosure about the structure of the group. On the one hand, Argentina, Chile, Colombia and Mexico require listed firms being part of a group to disclose in general terms the structure of the group (and changes in control); Argentina also requires disclosing remuneration policies in controlled entities if different from those implemented at the controlled entities. On the other hand, Brazil and Peru mandate listed firms to provide a more detailed description of the structure of the group (including shareholdings and other commercial relationships); and finally, Colombia has established the preparation of a special report in the case of groups, where detailed information on the structure of the group and the transactions between members shall be disclosed.

All surveyed countries but Colombia¹⁴ have implemented IFRS, so financial statements are prepared on a consolidated basis. However, there are no specific requirements applicable for groups. Despite the benefits of having a consolidated financial picture of the group, it should be noted that consolidation could result in lower transparency levels for transactions between members of the group.

This is also the case for related-party transactions (RPTs), where most country regulations apply to listed companies whether they are part of a

group or not. 15 A few exceptions are found in Chile and Colombia. In Chile, the supervisor has the power to suspend transactions between companies of the same business group if one of those companies is a market intermediary, a supervised fund manager, a life insurance company or a securitization entity in those cases where their assets under management are at risk due to financial distress of the entity or its related parties. Colombia has recently undertaken a major reform of its Country Code, including several recommendations with respect to more detailed and periodic disclosure obligations of RPTs in the case of business groups. Also, the Superfinanciera (SFC) now requires financial groups to issue a quarterly report called Reciprocal Intragroup Consolidated Transactions, which includes SFC review of RPTs. While most countries do have frameworks in place requiring boards to review RPTs with the objective of ensuring that they are conducted under arm's length conditions and disclosed according to IFRS requirements, some Task Force participants expressed the view that the quality of reporting should be improved to provide enough information to assess whether and why a transaction is in the company's interest, rather than simply covering its basic elements.

Other mechanisms aiming at protecting minority shareholders' rights were developed to minimize the potential for stock dilution by controlling shareholders. The most common feature in surveyed countries are the requirements for immediate disclosure of significant events in relation to changes in ownership structure; these includes the reporting of corporate reorganization (M&A, spin-offs, transfers of key assets, etc.) and of issuance of new shares, changes in controlling shareholders, buyback programs, stock options, directors and senior management shareholdings, etc. as well.

In the above mentioned cases, regulations provide additional protection mechanisms to minority shareholders other than disclosure. These mechanisms usually give minority shareholders a preferred right to buy new shares, mandatory tender offers, minimum thresholds for dividend payouts, and/or requirements for special majorities at the AGM for corporate ownership changes. However, all these provisions apply equally to firms whether they belong to a company group or not.

1.8. Economic groups and conflicts of interest

Restrictions on firms' ownership structures to minimize conflicts of interest are mostly related to systemic financial stability considerations rather than motivated by governance concerns at the firm level. All countries have established at least some level of restrictions addressing the exposure of financial firms (banks, non-banking financial institutions, insurance companies, etc.) to non-financial firms belonging to the same group.

These restrictions are usually established through the Banking Law (or similar) and related regulations, and aim to limit a financial intermediary's interest in other firms based on prudential norms; for instance, prohibiting banks to be shareholders of other firms (financial and non-financial); and restricting their credit exposure to related entities/individuals (either through loans, bonds and/or other financial instruments).

However, none of the surveyed countries have restrictions or limits applying to control structures for economic or company groups (i.e. pyramidal ownership structures) that are aimed at reducing the scope for conflicts of interest and divergence between voting rights and cash flow rights.

At the board level, the main element found across the surveyed countries in dealing with conflicts of interest is the establishment of the duty of diligence and loyalty of directors and their liability for breaching such duty. If a director is confronted with a conflict of interest in the discharge of his/her duties, he/she shall refrain from participating and voting in any discussion of the issue. But, again, these provisions are equally applicable to all firms, irrespective of them being part of a group or not; only Brazil explicitly takes into account the group context in acknowledging that administrators (supervisory and management board members) are liable before the company for possible damages arising from violation of ensuring that transactions between companies belonging to the same group were done on fair terms.

Regarding provisions with respect to the composition of the board, no specific restrictions are in place to prohibit interlocking board members within a group except in Colombia, but only for financial conglomerates. Colombia also has issued a voluntary recommendation in its new Country Code asking companies to disclose information in annual corporate governance reports regarding the additional boards or management positions that a board member serves on within the same group. However, requirements for independent directors apply to all firms, hence providing some limits on individuals crosssitting on boards of companies within the same group. While no Latin American country requires more than 25% of the board of directors to be designated as independent, independent directors can nevertheless play an important role, often comprising a majority of the audit committee or similar body¹⁷, for example, in Argentina, Chile, Colombia and Mexico.

Nevertheless, Brazil, Chile, Colombia and Mexico do have some specific regulations applying to company groups that constrain the ability of certain individuals (or related persons) to participate in firms' key decision-making bodies.

On the one hand, straightforward prohibitions are in place. Brazil established a provision banning administrators¹⁸ (or related persons, i.e. spouses) and other employees of companies belonging to the same group to

serve as members of the fiscal council (it's a separate statutory oversight body with functions similar to an audit committee). Mexico bans external auditors of any firm (over the previous 12 months) belonging to a business group to be appointed to the board of any of the firms of the group. Finally, Colombia prohibits an individual to have more than five board seats simultaneously.

On the other hand, independence is the driver for limits to cross-sitting. Chile and Mexico have established that certain individuals do not qualify as independent for the purpose of board composition. In the former case, a director of a controlled firm can't be elected as independent director of the holding company; in the latter case, individuals with senior responsibilities within a business group (over the previous 12 months) do not qualify as independent directors of any of the firms belonging to the group.

There are two idiosyncratic practices in place in Chile and Peru that are worth mentioning. First, Chilean legislation allows the director of a holding firm the right to attend, without voting rights, the board sessions of the subsidiaries within a group. And second, under Mexican regulations in the case of a listed firm that is a controlled entity, the structure of the board's corporate practices committee¹⁹ is different from other firms not having a controlling shareholder; in the former, a majority of independent members is required, whereas in the latter a full independent composition is mandated by law.

With respect to control environment, no country has established differential treatment for firms being part of a company group. Risk management provisions, and internal and external control regulations (the composition and functioning of the audit committee or similar, rotation of external audits, etc.) are applicable to all listed firms.

All surveyed countries have developed their own codes for good corporate governance practices. In four countries (Argentina, Chile, Colombia and Peru) they have a legal status based on a "comply or explain" mechanism. Argentina, Colombia and Peru have each developed recommendations with respect to enhanced transparency practices in the case of company groups. The Argentinean code also calls for ensuring mechanisms to deal with conflicts of interest, and preventing misuse of inside information. The Peruvian code calls upon company groups to adopt an integrated risk management framework across the group (including the recommendation to appoint the same external auditor for all companies within the group), with higher responsibilities taken by the board of the holding company. In the case of Colombia, a reform to the code in September 2014 included a number of recommendations targeting company groups in addition to those mentioned above, such as appointing a single chief risk officer, establishing a selfregulatory regime for boards of holding companies with increased responsibilities, etc.

1.9. Multinational company groups and cross-border activity

As it is reported in the individual country chapters, company groups having an international presence and operations abroad are important in all surveyed countries. This fact gives company groups additional room to undertake cross-border actions that may affect other stakeholders' rights.

Despite their growing presence, none of the surveyed countries have reported any situation under investigation involving breaching of corporate governance regulations by international business groups.

However, they do have the administrative tools to engage in cross-border investigations. All countries but Chile²⁰ are full signatories of the International Organisation of Securities Regulators Multilateral Memorandum of Understanding (IOSCO MMOU) concerning consultation and cooperation and exchange of information with other members. In addition to that, all countries have signed several bilateral Memoranda of Understanding with foreign securities regulators for consultation, enforcement and exchange of information. This is particularly important in the context of the Integrated Latin American Market (*Mercado Integrado Latinoamericano* – MILA, involving Chile, Colombia, Mexico and Peru), where some exchanges of information have occurred among domestic capital markets regulators. Nevertheless, most bilateral MOUs focus on infringements of the stock exchanges' rules, rather than corporate governance issues.

1.10. Global and regional guidance on corporate governance of groups

As recognition grows of the important role that company groups play in many economies, including most emerging markets, there appears to be a growing focus internationally on corporate governance challenges associated with company groups.

For example, the Joint Forum of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, IOSCO and the International Association of Insurance Supervisors issued Principles for the Supervision of Financial Conglomerates in September 2012.²¹ The Joint Forum Principles include chapters on corporate governance and risk management. While these Principles are focused on financial institution regulation and supervision, covering issues of prudential supervision, capital adequacy and liquidity that go beyond the Roundtable's focus on corporate governance, they nevertheless provide specific corporate governance guidance that may be useful as well to the policy framework and supervision of nonfinancial listed companies that are part of a company group.

The Joint Forum Principles (Chapter III on Corporate Governance: Recommendations 10-14) advocate a number of key corporate governance components that supervisors of such groups should seek to ensure are in place.

Some of these, such as efforts to ensure the suitability of board members, senior management and key persons in control functions, remuneration and certain general provisions to do with risk management, internal control, internal audit and compliance functions, could apply just as easily to stand-alone companies as to conglomerates. However, the Joint Forum Principles also devote an entire chapter (Recommendations 21 to 29) to different aspects of risk management aimed at ensuring that such risks are understood and managed effectively across the entire group. The Joint Forum Principles also raise a number of additional issues that are specific to the governance of groups, such as:

- Requiring that the conglomerate have in place "policies focused on identifying and managing conflicts of interest, including those that may result from intra-group transactions, charges, up streaming dividends, and risk shifting." (Explanatory notes of recommendation 10).
- "In the event the local corporate governance requirements applicable to any particular material entity in the financial conglomerate are below the group standards, the more stringent group corporate governance standards should apply except where this would lead to a violation of local law." (Explanatory notes of recommendation 10).
- "Supervisors should require that the board of the head of the financial conglomerate appropriately defines the strategy and risk appetite of the financial conglomerate, and ensures that this strategy is implemented and executed in the various entities, both regulated and unregulated" (Recommendation 13).

Another important international recommendation relevant to corporate governance of company groups was updated in July, 2014, when the Bank of International Settlements revised their corporate governance principles for banks (see www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d328.htm). This guidance for financial institutions now contains a new principle 5 on Group Corporate Governance, including a recommendation that the board "ensure that the group's corporate governance framework includes appropriate processes and controls to identify and address potential intragroup conflicts of interest, such as those arising from intragroup transactions, in appropriate recognition of the interest of the group."

Recognising the prevalence and importance of company and economic groups in Latin America and the specific challenges related to their governance, two recent regional initiatives also provide guidance to regulators and companies tailored to the conditions of the region: the CAF Latin American Development Bank's Annex 1 of the CAF 2013 Guidelines for a Latin American Code of Corporate Governance; and the Corporate Governance Recommendations for Company Groups Based on Experiences from the Latin American Companies Circle (November 2014).²²

The CAF guidelines refer to company or economic groups as business groups, much like most countries in the region. Two conditions are necessary to be regarded as a business group: common ownership, and control or effective influence. Most countries have followed these requisites when defining groups in their legislation.

The CAF approach to the governance within business groups puts at the forefront of the discussion the fact that the interest of the group as a whole should prevail over the interest of their individual members, with due consideration to the necessary autonomy of individual firms. CAF also calls for the definition and adoption of a framework for corporate governance at the group level – based on the guidelines issued for individual firms – but designed in order to better manage the particular conflicts of interest that are raised in the case of business groups. The Guidelines also acknowledge that financial conglomerates have a much broader set of conflict of interests that deserve particular attention: business complexity, risk profile, higher leverage, and systemic importance are distinctive features when compared to non-financial business groups.

The guidelines are grouped into four categories: i) Structure of the Business Group; ii) Board Functioning; iii) Framework for Control; and iv) Transparency and Disclosure.

In the first group, recommendations revolve around the establishment of a transparent and accurate organizational structure, with clear responsibilities for each member of the group, so as to facilitate the strategic planning for the group, its control, management and oversight. Specific guidelines are devoted to increase transparency and disclosure of the complete structure of the group, including business relationships (commercial, financial, managerial, etc.) and responsibilities within the group.

In the case of the functioning of the board, CAF calls for a differential treatment in the case of the board of the controlling entity and of the controlled entities, particularly when responsibilities have to be assigned to the members of the group. The former shall have responsibilities over the group as a whole, providing the group with a strategic view, a comprehensive risk management policy, and oversight of group achievement of strategic goals. The latter – in addition to standard responsibilities – shall ensure that the controlled entity follows the strategic guidelines set forth by the board of the controlling firm (as long as it doesn't jeopardise its own endurance), be accountable to the board of the controlling entity, and provide it with full information regarding the functioning of the controlled entity.

These differential requirements for boards have implications in terms of the professional profiles required for board members at every unit of the group, and on the optimal size of each board. Moreover, the establishment of board committees in controlled entities should be subject to a thorough evaluation regarding their convenience, given that certain functions shall be the domain of the board of the controlling entity; for instance, the Guidelines advise that audit, remuneration policies and risk committees should be established at the controlling board. Of course, actual adoption of this recommended practice is subject to existing regulations and legal requirements.

The control environment (policies and processes, risk management, control activities, reporting and communication, and oversight) in the group should be structured from a consolidated perspective, with formal procedures established across the group in order to have a comprehensive assessment of the risk exposure of the group as a single entity. No single model or benchmarking is recommended. Nevertheless, such environment shall be developed following best international practices (COSO I and COSO II), ensuring clear responsibilities, and providing an efficient bottom-up flow of information and reporting.

Finally, the CAF guidelines attach a critical importance to transparency practices. Information disclosure to all stakeholders should extend not only to the provision of an individual firm's information on a consolidated basis (vertical approach), but include key aspects of their relationships from a horizontal perspective, in order to have a much clearer understanding of the group, its functioning, complexities and responsibilities of its members. The guidelines recommend implementing a group-based transparency policy, and providing broad information about the group through an institutional website; in the case of controlled entities, references to the corporate governance implications of being part of the group should be disclosed.

The Companies Circle report takes a somewhat different approach by distinguishing between groups with wholly- and partially-owned subsidiaries. The Circle acknowledges the fundamental differences in the rationale, structure and functioning of groups in the LatAm countries, calling for no one-size-fits-all approach while endorsing a number of best practices that should serve as a reference for groups in the region, including the adoption of a governance framework at the group level.

In the case of partially-owned subsidiaries (the primary interest), the Circle highlights the role that shareholders agreements should play as the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Such agreements could help prevent conflicts of interest between shareholders, strengthen rights' protection mechanisms, and clarify the roles of board members and managers. Shareholders agreements could span a number of relevant governance issues for partially-owned subsidiaries such as: i) shareholders' consent rights or qualified voting requirements for shareholder meetings; ii) Board composition, authority, procedures and voting requirements on specific subjects (election of

senior management, veto or golden shares); iii) procedures to solve voting deadlocks (tie-breaking vote or requiring a binding external expert opinion); iv) exit rules (tag along, drag along, put options and call options); v) investment rules and limits for indebtedness; vi) reporting procedures and information disclosure; vii) procedures to follow in case of conflicts of interest; viii) approval procedures to enter into related party transactions; ix) the adoption of minimum compliance standards by the subsidiary; and x) applicable compensation for the rendering of shared services (in the event a contracting shareholder provides these types of services).

Also, the Circle discusses whether holding companies should have an active or passive role as shareholder of its subsidiaries. An active role is generally recommended, although in certain circumstances a passive role could be the appropriate response (for instance, if the holding company has a limited interest in the subsidiary). In any case, its activism should be consistent with respecting minority shareholders' rights. A transparent share voting policy, the appointment of independent directors with appropriate expertise to add value to the company, and periodic disclosure of material information to all shareholders to ensure a level-playing field, are the most relevant recommendations put forward by the Circle.

Finally, the Circle adheres to the idea that the governance framework is a dynamic concept that each group should modify as circumstances change, while following a formal procedure and documenting relationships between holding companies and subsidiaries. Special care is required in the case of members of the group that are listed companies, with particular attention to communication and disclosure. The parent board should consider establishing the group's policies and developing guidelines for the management of affiliated and subsidiary companies to support implementation of such measures.

The OECD Principles of Corporate Governance (2004) were under review during the Roundtable's consideration of this report. A new version was approved by the OECD Council in July 2015 with some revised provisions dealing with corporate governance of company groups, taking into account the work done for this report and other recent international experience and guidance. While the main focus of the Principles is to provide guidance that will be applicable to companies regardless of whether they are part of a group or a stand-alone firm, they also contain several specific references to company groups. Most of these focus on disclosure:

 The annotations to Principle II.E.2 recommend that "the disclosure of capital structures and control arrangements should be required." The annotations further imply that this recommendation addresses group structures, since it specifies that mechanisms such as pyramid structures and cross shareholdings (which both apply to groups), and shares with limited or multiple voting rights, can be used to diminish the capability of non-controlling shareholders to influence corporate policy.

- Principle III.C recommends that institutional investors acting in a fiduciary capacity disclose how they manage material conflicts of interest that may affect their exercise of key ownership rights. It includes an annotation explaining that the incentives of intermediary owners may differ from those of direct owners under certain circumstances, and that such conflicts of interest may be particularly acute when the fiduciary institution is a subsidiary or an affiliate of another financial institution, and especially an integrated financial group.
- Principle V.A.1 on disclosure of financial and operating results refers to the importance "that transactions relating to an entire group of companies be disclosed in line with high quality internationally recognised standards..."

In addition, two annotations underline the importance of clarifying the board's duty of loyalty in company group situations:

- Principle II.F dealing with the protection of minority shareholders from abusive actions by or in the interest of controlling shareholders, includes an annotation that states: "A particular issue arises in some jurisdictions where groups of companies are prevalent and where the duty of loyalty of a board member might be ambiguous and even interpreted as to the group. In these cases, some countries are now moving to control negative effects by specifying that a transaction in favour of another group company must be offset by receiving a corresponding benefit from other companies of the group.
- Finally, Principle VI.A. on board duties refers to the "central importance" of the duty of loyalty, stating: "It is also a key principle for board members who are working within the structure of a group of companies: even though a company might be controlled by another enterprise, the duty of loyalty for a board member relates to the company and all its shareholders and not to the controlling company of the group."

New revisions address some of the points raised by the Joint Forum, CAF and Companies Circle guidance, including:

- A new Principle II.F.1 calling for related party transactions to be approved
 and conducted in a manner that ensures proper management of conflicts of
 interest. The first sentence of the annotations notes the potential for abuse
 of RPTs and the importance of this issue in all markets, but particularly in
 those where corporate ownership is concentrated and corporate groups
 prevail.
- A new annotation to Principle V.A.6 on disclosure of related party transactions states that "While the definition of related parties in internationally accepted

accounting standards provides a useful reference, the corporate governance framework should ensure that all related parties are properly identified and that in cases where specific interests of related parties are present, material transactions with consolidated subsidiaries are also disclosed."

- A new annotation to Principle V.A.9 recommends that disclosure of companies' governance structures and policies, including those of significant subsidiaries in the case of non-operating holding companies, is important for the assessment of a company's governance and should cover the division of authority between shareholders, management and board members.
- Principle VI.C on the board's responsibility to apply high ethical standards
 includes an annotation stating that many companies have found it useful to
 establish company codes of conduct, "and to communicate them
 throughout the organisation."
- Principle VI.D.7 underlines the role of the board in ensuring the integrity of the corporation's accounting and financial reporting systems, including the independent audit, and that appropriate systems of control are in place, in particular, systems for risk management, financial and operational control, and compliance with the law and relevant standards. Proposed new language includes a strengthened annotation which states that "compliance programmes should also extend to subsidiaries". The 2004 Principles had weaker language suggesting that "compliance programmes should also extend where possible to subsidiaries."

Considering the varying approaches taken to corporate governance of company groups in OECD countries, there was not consensus to integrate more specific annotations dealing with company groups, for example, with respect to specific responsibilities of holding company boards similar to those advocated by the CAF Guidelines. However, the Principles are primarily targeted towards governments to help them to develop relevant policies and regulations for the establishment of an effective corporate governance framework. In this respect, the Joint Forum Principles, CAF Guidelines and Companies Circle recommendations may be seen as complementary to the OECD Principles, since the Joint Forum is targeted to the supervision of financial conglomerates and the CAF Guidelines and Companies Circle recommendations are more targeted to the level of company practice.

1.11. Policy options and challenges

In their survey responses, the region's regulators did not report consideration of any major changes to their policy and regulatory frameworks for corporate governance of groups. However, in some countries, prospective regulations affecting company groups are under analysis and discussion with relevant stakeholders. For instance, Brazil reported plans to enact a new regulation on disclosure of corporate reorganisations that includes special provisions on transactions that involve economic group companies. Peru reported considering to limit certain RPTs and to request additional protective procedures in those cases. Colombia was in the process of considering potential legislation to strengthen regulatory authority to supervise holding companies of financial conglomerates.

From a systemic perspective, Chile's SVS has recently embarked on a process of identifying and evaluating systemic risks derived from business groups in general, as a natural extension of similar work done on financial conglomerates. Mexico's recent regulatory reform included changes regarding corporate governance issues at financial conglomerates in order to set a framework similar to the one in place for non-financial listed firms. Finally, Argentina's CNV reported that as part of its ongoing process of reviewing its regulatory framework to identify potential weaknesses and risks, recommendations issued by CAF on corporate governance of company groups are being used as a relevant reference for potential inclusion in Argentina's comply or explain corporate governance code.

1.12. Conclusions

A first draft of this report was made available to Latin American regulators participating in the Task Force Survey and other participants in the Task Force and Roundtable meetings to serve as the basis for discussion. Participants were invited to consider within their own country contexts whether legal or regulatory reforms or best practice guidance would be desirable with respect to: a) Structures of Groups and Potential Conflicts of Interest; b) Board Functioning; c) the Framework for Control; d) Transparency and Disclosure; and e) Next Steps. The discussion and further written comments sent by participants showed that there is agreement on certain conclusions, while others deserve more analytical work and broader discussion.

On a general level, this report finds that regulatory frameworks in the region have defined company groups and established some specific regulation for groups, particularly with respect to disclosure (e.g. complying with IFRS requirements for consolidated disclosure of accounts and requirements to report information on group structures and ownership). But, like the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, they do not necessarily go into specific detail with respect to the particularities of being part of a group. Rather, certain provisions, such as requirements for the review of related party transactions and other provisions to protect minority shareholder rights, have been conceived to be broadly applicable both to companies within groups as well as for stand-alone firms.

Nevertheless, recently issued corporate governance guidance for groups from the Joint Forum, the CAF Latin American development bank and the Latin American Companies Circle – in addition to the relevant international experiences set forth in section 3 of this chapter – all suggest that there is scope for the development of more specific guidance – and potentially legal reforms – with respect to the governance of groups, both because of their systemic importance to Latin American economies and because of some of the specific challenges and complexities involved.

Regional co-ordination. More specifically, there appears to be interest to consider a regionally-coordinated approach to corporate governance issues involving multinational business groups, particularly in the case of MILA countries. In this sense, convergence to common standards could facilitate regional integration of capital markets, and a more efficient functioning of the domestic regulatory and supervisory frameworks. Such an approach could also reduce the risk of regulatory arbitrage.

Regulation versus voluntary guidance. Finding the right balance between regulatory requirements and voluntary guidance is a challenge everywhere and raises particular issues in the Latin American context. Some Task Force and Roundtable participants called for stronger regulation, pointing to a culture in the region of ignoring voluntary guidance and only taking action if legally bound to do so. On the other hand, it was also suggested that regulation is complex and cannot solve all problems, particularly at the level of promoting good practice. It may lack sufficient flexibility to apply to the quite varied business models and structures of different groups in the region, and therefore could diminish the benefits that they achieve and impede their efficiency.

It was suggested that a principles-based framework, in the form of more group-specific voluntary guidance similar to that provided in recent updates to the Colombian and Peruvian corporate governance codes, should be explored further. However, institutional investors would have to become more active and to demand adherence to good practices in order for more market-driven solutions based on voluntary guidance to work effectively. Assessing what issues may require regulation, as usual, will depend on a range of factors, including whether current governance practices of groups are evaluated to be problematic and need to be improved; whether regulation provides sufficient flexibility to accommodate different group structures and business models; and not least, whether the benefits of additional regulation (or disclosure requirements with respect to voluntary recommendations) outweigh the additional costs.

Group structures. While there is currently no consensus in the region on the desirability of trying to influence the overall economic and ownership structure of company groups, as Israel has done with its reforms to eliminate

pyramid structures containing three or more layers, there is clearly interest in ensuring that such structures are transparent, well understood, and that mechanisms are in place to address conflicts of interest that may be related to such structures. The current structure of groups in the region is the result of historical, economic, institutional and socio-cultural factors. Due care is necessary in assessing their systemic importance and macroeconomic impact through risk-based consolidated supervision. In most countries, this is a challenge that involves multiple regulators with different capacities and resources, making co-ordination and clarification of respective responsibilities and avoidance of duplicative or conflicting requirements an important priority.

The role and functioning of boards. A fundamental question arose in the Roundtable, namely, whether the duty of loyalty of board members is an obligation to act in the interest of the company they serve or to the group as a whole. In many countries, the legal framework clearly states that board members shall act in the interest of the firm they serve, but actual practices seem to diverge from this requirement. One of the reasons is that it is difficult to assess the extent to which any decision that has benefited the group may also contribute to positive externalities that benefit its member companies. Also, measuring the implicit benefits that a firm being part of a group enjoys is a challenge, not least in terms of quantifying the true costs and benefits of certain services provided by the parent company.

The downside of adopting an approach where the interest of the group is given stronger consideration (as occurs in some European countries) is that the institutional framework in Latin America is not as strong, and therefore actual compensation/redress to affected stakeholders in case of damage could prove to be hard to implement in a timely and fair fashion. Also, the exit option could be very costly for minority shareholders due to the relative illiquidity of most domestic stocks. Alternatively, and based on the positive experience of arbitration mechanisms in some countries (i.e. Brazil), the promotion of dispute resolution mechanisms within the stock exchange through arbitration panels could be explored. The Brazilian Takeover Panel is another initiative that may be helpful in incentivizing equitable treatment of shareholders and ensuring fair resolution of disputes between controlling and minority shareholders involved in company groups.

Regional best practice guidance has suggested that certain functions of boards should be the main responsibility of the board of the holding company, which should be held responsible for implementation, communication, surveillance and enforcement. This is the case for the control function, governance practices and remuneration policies. This is an area where the development and adoption of principles-based mechanisms at the group level should be explored. Further work on these topics should also include other players, such as regulators, stock exchanges, and institutional investors.

Consideration could be given to the creation of specific committees in these areas at the holding company level, to not only facilitate an understanding of the functioning of the group, but also reduce unnecessary duplication of structures at the subsidiaries' boards.

The framework for control and related party transactions. The Task Force recognised the greater complexity and challenges involved in ensuring an effective framework for management of risks and assurance of internal controls and compliance across the group as a whole. Because of the complexity and diversity of business models involved in such groups, group-specific regulation has not emerged as a priority, with best practice guidance seen as better suited to address these issues (as noted in the paragraph above on the role of boards).

However, ensuring efficient and effective frameworks for the review of related party transactions remains a core concern for groups where regulation plays an important role, covered in greater detail in the Roundtable Task Force's 2013 report on this subject. Brazil's recent initiative to require ongoing reporting of material related party transactions provides added transparency beyond the annual IFRS reporting requirements established in most Latin American countries, and could be considered more widely. Some participants expressed the view that the quality of reporting should also be improved to ensure that enough information is available to assess whether and why a transaction is in the company's interest, rather than simply covering its basic elements.

Transparency and disclosure. A market-driven approach led by greater transparency and improved disclosure practices constitutes the cornerstone for improving the corporate governance of company groups. This is an issue on which there is consensus that some regulatory requirements are necessary, and most countries require extensive disclosure of ownership, financial and non-financial information for listed companies, but there remains scope for further improvements in the quality, level of detail and understandability of information reported. Clear information on ownership structures and ultimate beneficiaries should be complemented by disclosing relevant commercial and financial relationships between the members of the group, so market players can have an accurate picture of the group's functioning. Further consideration should also be given to reporting requirements for nonlisted members of a group, particularly with respect to material related party transactions impacting on the group as a whole or its listed members. Policies adopted at the holding company level that are mandatory for the entire group should also be made public by the group, including a description of the communication channels between controlling and controlled entities.

Next steps and the Agenda for Future Research. Looking ahead, the Task Force agreed to report its findings to the OECD Corporate Governance

Committee to take into consideration during its review of the Principles of Corporate Governance, and to deepen its research on the issues cited above. The Task Force also supports the development of further research on the characteristics and corporate governance practices of company groups in the region, the benefits and risks associated with them, and the regulatory frameworks for addressing such risks. Review of specific cases involving conflicts between the interests of a group's controlling shareholders and those of minority shareholders may help the Task Force to better understand both the strengths and limitations of current regulatory frameworks and enforcement mechanisms in participating countries. It will also be important to take into account how regulatory requirements may impede a group's ability to conduct its business efficiently. At least initially, the focus of such research and case studies should be primarily on groups with partially-owned subsidiaries whose main business is non-financial, that are controlled by the private sector, and that have at least one member listed in stock exchanges. The Task Force will aim to reconvene in the second half of 2015 to consider lessons learned and potential country-specific recommendations and actions that may be desirable in light of any further research or findings to be developed.

Notes

- 1. This section draws extensively on CEF (2011) Discussion Note "Corporate Governance Challenges for Economic Groups", prepared for the 2011 Latin American Corporate Governance Roundtable.
- 2. An important exception was the debate around the impact that economic groups in Asia had in the dynamics of the so-called Asian crisis of 1997.
- 3. Li refers to relation-based governance as a system under which most transactions are based on personal and implicit agreements, and the state is generally not able to enforce contracts impartially. Under rule-based governance, most transactions are based on impersonal and explicit agreements, and the state can impartially enforce contracts.
- 4. Perotti and Gelfer (1999) found some evidence (not conclusive) of Russian business groups as being more efficient in allocating resources than independent firms. Other recent work also point to benefits achieved by business group structures, such as Ramachandran et. al. (2013), and McCahery and Vermeulen (2014). On the other hand, Claessens, Djankov, and Lang (2000) found negative results in selected Asian countries.
- 5. Information in this paragraph and subsequent paragraphs regarding OECD country experience draws substantially on an internal OECD working paper prepared by Grant Kirkpatrick, "Company groups and corporate governance: dealing with related party transactions," May, 2013 (unpublished).
- 6. See http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/company/docs/modern/reflectiongroup_report_en.pdf.
- Although, according to Mike Lubrano, a director's consideration of the interests of the group can be taken into account in the US courts through application of the business judgement rule.

- 8. Extraordinary transactions in Israel are defined as those which are not undertaken under market conditions, not in a company's ordinary course of business or that are likely to materially influence the profitability of a company, its property or liabilities
- 9. It should be noted that the study was based on 2002 data, while the data cited in the country chapters of this report obtained from regulators in the region is more up-to-date.
- 10. Brazil and Peru.
- 11. Even in Colombia, co-ordination between the Financial Superintendency and Superintendency of Companies may be necessary for cases involving groups containing listed and non-listed non-financial companies.
- 12. While banking regulators (and regulators with combined responsibilities for financial and securities markets in Colombia and Mexico) generally have overall responsibility for banks and non-banking credit firms, securities regulators in Argentina, Brazil, Chile and Peru also maintain some responsibilities with respect to listed financial institutions.
- 13. While Superfinanciera has responsibility for supervision of financial sector firms and non-financial listed companies, overall responsibility for supervision of company groups with non-financial activities is under Supersociedades (the Superintendency of Companies).
- 14. Colombia joined this group beginning in 2015; for a transition phase in 2014, listed firms submitted two sets of financial statements to the regulator according to both IFRS and local standards, but were not yet required to publicly disclose the statements based on IFRS.
- 15. For more information on the procedures and policies followed by each country with respect to RPTs, a report on this topic was prepared in 2013 by the RPT Task Force of the Latin American Corporate Governance Roundtable.
- 16. See: www.oecd.org/daf/ca/LatinAmericanReportonRelatedPartyTransactions.pdf.
- 17. Brazil has requirements for independent members of its Fiscal Council, which serves a similar function to an audit committee, but which does not contain members of the board of directors.
- 18. Administrators in Brazil signify both supervisory board members and "officers" referring to members of the management board, also referred to as executive board members. The CEO may also serve on or chair the supervisory board.
- 19. This committee has oversight responsibilities on matters such as board remuneration policies, RPTs, board effectiveness, etc.
- 20. Chile is listed as an Annex B member, meaning that they have committed to became signatories of the MMoU once they have the necessary authority to do so.
- 21. See www.bis.org/publ/joint29.pdf for the full text.
- 22. The Companies Circle is a group of Latin American companies established by the Roundtable in 2005, sponsored by the IFC with support from the OECD, with demonstrated leadership in enacting and advocating governance improvements in the region.

Chapter 2

Argentina

Research shows that company groups play a dominant role among Argentina's largest listed companies, and a significant role in the economy more generally. The chapter summarises how company groups are defined under Argentina's legal framework, and how minority shareholder rights are regulated and enforced. It highlights corporate governance "comply or explain" code recommendations to disclose common policies within the group, to ensure mechanisms to deal with conflicts of interest, and to prevent misuse of inside information in a group context. Argentina's securities market regulator (Comision Nacional de Valores - CNV) reported that it became a signatory in 2014 to the International Organisation of Securities Regulators Multilateral Memorandum of Understanding (IOSCO MMOU) concerning co-operation and exchange of information with other members, allowing the CNV to expand its capacities to investigate cross-border financial operations involving multinational company groups.

2.1. Data: Relevance of company and economic groups for the economy

Anecdotal evidence suggests that economic groups have a significant presence in the country; for instance, eight out of the ten largest listed domestic firms in the Buenos Aires Stock Exchange are part of an economic group; also, as of 2003, 30 out of the 200 largest domestic companies were part of an economic group (Gaggero, 2008), while another study identifies 20 out of the 54 largest listed firms as linked to groups structured around pyramidal ownership structure (Bebzcuk, 2005). Although there are many studies evaluating their economic, social and political impact, they do so by identifying and analyzing some of them without providing a quantitative assessment of their importance. Hence, to our knowledge there is no consolidated information on economic groups in Argentina.

2.2. Definitions

The Argentinean legal framework doesn't address directly the issue of economic or company groups. Indeed, there is no specific legal definition of what constitutes a group. Nevertheless, the Companies Law (CL) and the Capital Market Law (CML) establish certain conditions that preclude the existence of certain relationships between firms.

Controlling relationships between companies are defined in the CL based on the power to solely influence the decision-making at shareholders meetings, while a category of linked companies is also established when a firm holds more than 10% of equity rights of another firm (art. 33); also, the CML under art. 2 establishes what a controlling group is, in the case of issuers in the capital markets (but this definition is mostly associated to controlling groups within a single firm, and not directly related to controlling groups of a group of firms). Definition of a related-party in the case of listed firms is provided under the CML (art. 72). In both cases, specific provisions and requirements are established.

Although no legal differentiation exists with respect to financial and non-financial firms when it comes to company or economic groups, the CML establishes that listed firms that are controlling entities of banks and/or insurance companies may also prepare their financial statements according to the valuation norms issued by the Superintendence of Banks (SEFyC) and/or the Superintendence of Insurance (SSN); other conditions shall be met in these cases.

There are formal instances of information sharing between relevant regulators (e.g. BCRA, SSN, CNV, Ministry of Economy, Financial Information Unit (UIF), the Federal Tax Authority, etc.); The CML allows the CNV to share information and cooperate with other regulators (BCRA, SSN and UIF) to reinforce its supervisory powers. For this purpose there are bilateral MoUs signed among regulators that establish formal mechanisms to exchange information and cooperate. For issues regarding anti-money laundering UIF has a specific resolution that sets the procedure to be followed.

2.3. Protection of minority shareholder rights: Regulatory oversight and enforcement

The CL introduces additional disclosure requirements for linked companies (art. 63 to 66); for instance, financial statements should include information identifying the controlling shareholder and related-party transactions. Some provisions to protect minority shareholders in case of issue of new shares are also provided for (art. 195 and 202).¹

In the particular case of listed companies, a major reform in regulations related to corporate governance took place in 2001 when Decree 677 was issued. Later in 2012 this provision was incorporated almost entirely as Section III of the CML as part of a reform of several provisions of the CML. It included additional provisions regarding the protection of minority shareholders when a firm is quasi-totally controlled by another company (holds more than 95% of equity rights of the former).

Since 2012 listed firms shall prepare their financial statements according to IFRS. When firms register before the CNV to be authorized to list their shares and/or issue corporate bonds in public offer, it is requested that they shall inform the presence of controlling or controlled entities that constitute an economic group; in such cases, they are mandated to disclose additional information on the whole group.

The CML grants the National Securities Commission (CNV) the power to authorize listed firms to prepare financial statements on a consolidated basis, as long as by doing so, the financial and economic situation of the listed firm could be better assessed. Also, the CML requests listed firms to disclose the remuneration policies of controlled entities in those cases where those policies differ significantly from those followed by the controlling firm.

Controlling shareholders are also subject to additional requirements with respect to their ownership (number and types of shares, convertible bonds and stock options); when there are changes in controlling ownership, the company shall inform the CNV of such transactions regardless of whether the controller is an individual person or firm or a group of them acting in concert. Also, the firm shall inform the CNV of the existence of any kind of arrangement

between shareholders that aim to exert control of the entity or significantly change the structure of voting rights of the firm.² In all of the above cases, listed firms shall also disclose such information to the markets in which its shares are listed; subsequently, markets should make public immediate the communications received, either through their institutional newsletters or other means to assure broad disclosure (sections 99 and 100 of the CML).

Also, the CML mandates the Audit Committee to provide -among other responsibilities- the board with a documented opinion regarding the conditions (whether done at arm's length or not) under which related-party transactions and other commercial transactions where a conflict of interest may arise, are to be executed. Related-party transactions are defined as well, and it also establishes a minimum threshold of the transaction so as to be subject to greater scrutiny by the Audit Committee.³

Also, the board may request the opinion of two external independent experts regarding the conditions of such transactions. In such cases, the report prepared shall be disclosed to shareholders right after the transactions have been approved by the board (the vote of each director has to be identified). If the transaction is regarded (either by the Audit Committee or the external experts) as not complying with arm's length principles or market conditions, then it is required to be approved by the shareholders general assembly.

Shareholders can demand redress if damage has been caused because of a related-party transaction. As a rule, the reverse burden of proof is valid, and it is the board that has to prove that there has been no damage. However, if certain conditions are met, then the burden of proof reverts back to the claimant shareholder; this is the case when the transaction was approved by the board while also endorsed by the Audit Committee or external experts, or alternatively when the transaction was approved by the shareholders meeting without taking into account the votes of the shareholder that is involved in the RPT under consideration.

2.4. Other corporate governance issues for groups

The CL includes certain general provisions that could be considered as relevant in the case of company or economic groups. The duty of diligence and loyalty of directors and their responsibility for infringements are established as well (art. 59 and 274); similar considerations are included in the CML (art. 78). Finally, when a director is confronted with a conflict of interest in the discharge of his/her duties, he/she shall refrain from participating in any discussion of the issue, and shall inform the board about this situation (art. 272 of the CL). However, no specific regulations are in place to minimize conflicts of interest at the board level in the case of company groups.

In 2012 the CNV reviewed a process initiated back in 2007 to promote the adoption of good corporate governance practices by listed firms and issuers of corporate bonds, through a Code of Corporate Governance. Since then, firms shall "comply or explain" whether they fully or partially adhere to a number of recommendations for good governance (as an addendum to the Annual Report and as a separate document to be disclosed through the CNV's website).

Recommendations are grouped under nine principles; the first principle relates directly to the necessary transparency in the relationship of the firm and the economic group to which it belongs. Recommendations under this principle call for disclosure of common policies/procedures within the group, ensuring mechanisms to deal with conflicts of interest, and preventing misuse of inside information.

2.5. Corporate governance issues for multinational economic groups

In June, 2014 the CNV became full signatory of the IOSCO Multilateral Memorandum of Understanding (IOSCO MMOU) concerning consultation and cooperation and exchange of information with other members. This allows the CNV to expand its capacities to investigate cross-border financial operations in capital markets.

2.6. Policy options for consideration

Although no particular policy options are currently under consideration, the CNV follows an ongoing process of reviewing its regulatory framework to identify potential weaknesses and risks, so as to strengthen this framework. In particular, the CNV may consider the incorporation of specific recommendations into the Code of Corporate Governance that address the set of issues arising from the presence of economic groups. As part of that process, the CNV is paying particular attention to the treatment of company groups as recommended in the Guidelines of Corporate Governance prepared by the CAF Latin American Development Bank.

Notes

- 1. In case of issuance of new shares, existing shareholders have a preferred right to purchase new shares up to its current shareholding participation.
- 2. In certain situations, the CNV may temporarily waive the obligation for firms to comply with this disclosure requirement (section 101 of the CML).
- 3. Audit committee opinion is required for those transactions in which their value exceeds the equivalent to 1% of the firm's equity.

Chapter 3

Brazil

Sixty-four of the 66 Brazilian companies on the IBOVESPA index are part of a group, while the "vast majority" of all 360 Brazilian listed companies belong to such groups. Brazil has a special provision for de jure company groups that establishes contractual obligations between parent and subordinate companies and provides greater leeway for the parent company to direct subordinate companies. However, only two listed companies use this provision and the vast majority of groups are designated as de facto economic groups whose companies are associated based on significant voting or economic influence. The Brazilian securities commission (Comissão de Valores Mobiliários – CVM) oversees listed companies that are part of a group, including group-specific provisions related to disclosure of group and shareholding structures, and for related party transactions. CVM was also planning to enact new regulation in 2015 with group-specific provisions on disclosure of corporate reoganizations.

3.1. Data: Relevance of company and economic groups for the economy

Business groups play a dominant role among publicly-listed companies in Brazil: 64 of the 66 listed companies trading on the IBOVESPA index are part of an economic group, and the market value of these 64 companies represents 81.8% of BM&F Bovespa's total market capitalization, according to the Brazilian securities commission (Comissão de Valores Mobiliários - CVM). While IBOVESPA comprises only 66 of BM&F Bovespa's 360 listed companies (as of the end of 2013), it includes Brazil's most actively traded and largest companies, accounting for 82.4% of the total market value as valued in the Economática database. Listed companies are required to report on their ownership structures, including a description of the group to which the issuer belongs, as well as on the controlling shareholder or group of controlling shareholders, as part of Reference Form disclosure requirements that are filed at least annually (see Section 3 for further details). Although CVM has not compiled overall data from the Reference Form to enable it to provide a precise count of how many of the 360 companies listed with BM&F Bovespa belong to an economic group, it reported that its staff believe that the vast majority of Brazilian listed companies belong to such groups.

3.2. Definitions

The vast majority of Brazilian listed companies belonging to a group operate as *de facto groups*, referred to as *economic groups*. A *de facto group* is formed by associate companies, subsidiaries and parent companies that maintain corporate relationships with each other under statutes applicable to individual companies, and that are not formally organized as a group (Chapter XX of the Brazilian Corporation Act¹ (Law No. 6404/76)). Such relationships are defined in terms of shareholding, i.e. voting and economic influence, with no binding obligations. Companies are considered as associated when an investor company holds "significant" influence, presumed when an investor maintains 20% or more of an investee's voting stock but does not exercise control. A controlling shareholder is regarded as such when it has prevalent and permanent influence in corporate decisions and the power to directly or indirectly elect a majority of administrators (Articles 116 and 143).² Article 245 of the Corporation Act states that business among companies that comprise such a group should be fair and impartial.

A more rarely used provision of the Corporation Act also defines the concept of group of companies (de jure groups), providing the opportunity for parent companies and subsidiaries (controlling and controlled companies) to register a contract with the Companies Registration Office that formally establishes them as a corporate group (Chapter XXI of the Corporation Act). Such a group may be described as a company of companies whose contract agreement establishes multilateral obligations with respect to activities, management and assets. To qualify as a de jure group, three conditions must apply: i) there must be a subordinate relationship between the companies; ii) an agreement must be in place under which the participants must unite resources and efforts to achieve objectives; and iii) control is exercised permanently by the parent company. In addition, Brazilian law requires the parent company of a de jure group to be incorporated under Brazilian Law and to be headquartered in Brazil. Similar to economic groups, reciprocal holdings between a company and its associates or subsidiaries are not permitted; only the controlling company can hold interests in a subsidiary's capital.

Only two listed companies, WEB and ITAUTEC, representing approximately 1.0% of market capitalization, define themselves in their respective bylaws as *de jure groups*. The main legal benefit of belonging to a *de jure* group is that it clarifies that administrators of associate companies shall follow the direction of the administrators of the group in accordance with the group contract (Articles 272-273); and that damages to minority shareholders or the interests of the company for the subordination of the interests of one corporation to those of another within the group, as well as the sharing of costs, revenue or results may not be claimed if the company is following the conditions of the group contract (Article 276).

3.3. Supervision of Brazilian company groups

In Brazil, CVM is responsible for supervising all listed companies, including those that are part of a group as well as listed financial institutions. In general, supervision criteria are the same for listed financial institutions as for other listed companies overseen by CVM. However, economic groups led by a financial institution are also required to report accounting and prudential information to the Central Bank of Brazil (BCB) in order to enable the BCB to assess the financial/economic position and regulatory capital of such groups. All financial institutions under BCB supervision and their respective economic groups must submit and disclose financial statements prepared under IFRS with consolidated information on the group, as well as separate financial statements for each financial institution in an economic group according to accounting principles applicable to financial institutions (COSIF).

CVM regulation does not apply to non-listed companies within the same economic group. However, the CVM and the market may have access to

information related to non-listed companies if their parent company is a listed company, for example, through their filing of consolidated financial statements under which the parent company must include financial information about its subsidiaries, including non-listed ones.

CVM and the BCB have established a co-operation agreement that allows: i) each institution to have the opportunity to comment on regulation to be issued by the other; ii) issuance of joint decisions; iii) exchange of information regarding the activities performed in financial and capital markets; iv) reciprocal access to databases; v) each institution may request information from the institutions or persons supervised by the BB and the CVM; vi) joint inspections and mutual cooperation in surveillance and supervision activities; and vii) cooperation aimed at staff training in both bodies.³

3.4. Protection of minority shareholder rights

Most provisions aimed at the protection of minority shareholder rights in the case of companies that are part of economic groups deal with disclosure requirements and related-party transactions (RPTs) regulations.

In the case of disclosure, listed companies are required to prepare and disclose their financial statements on a consolidated basis (IFRS). In addition, as mentioned in Section 1 of this chapter, Brazilian listed companies face detailed disclosure requirements on the structure and control of the group that a listed company belongs to as part of Reference Form disclosures that must be filed at least annually. Item 8 of the Reference Form requires the company to describe the economic group to which the issuer belongs, including a) direct and indirect controlling shareholders, b) subsidiaries and affiliates; c) The issuer's participation in corporations of the group; d) participation of corporations of the group in the issuer; and e) corporations under common control. The issuer may include an organizational chart of the economic group, and will be required to do so beginning in 2016. An additional section, Item 15, requires detailed disclosure with respect to shareholders and groups of shareholders with 5% or greater participation in any class of shares, including their name, nationality, number and types of stocks held, and whether they participate in a shareholder agreement.

Other provisions related to protection of minority shareholder rights generally do not distinguish between listed companies that are part of a group and other listed companies. The Corporation Act requires at least 50% of voting shares to approve major decisions such as the establishment of preferred shares or increasing an existing class of shares without maintaining its ratio to the other types and classes of shares unless otherwise provided in the bylaws; merging the corporation with another corporation or consolidating it; or participating in a group of corporations (article 265); and spin-offs.

3.5. Related party transactions

The Corporation Act does not treat transactions with subsidiaries differently than transactions with other related parties. However, some CVM regulation regarding disclosure of RPTs does differentiate between fully owned subsidiaries/controlled companies and other types of association.

CVM announced in October, 2014 an amendment to Instruction No. 480 that will require immediate disclosure of relevant related party transactions (in addition to annual financial statement reporting requirements under IFRS). The rule applies to transactions involving at least 50 million *reais* (USD 21 million as of 30 October, 2014) or 1% of the issuer's total assets; or smaller amounts at management's discretion taking into consideration the characteristics of the transaction or group of transactions; the nature of the relation between the related party and the issuer; and the nature and the proportion of the related party's interest in the transaction or group of transactions.

The disclosure must describe the transaction, including the parties and their relation to the issuer; its object and key terms and conditions. The disclosure must also describe, if, when, in which way and in what proportion the transaction's counterparty, its partners, directors or board members were involved in the issuer's decision on the transaction, along with a description of such involvement; and the negotiation of the transaction as the issuer's proxy, along with a description of such involvement. Furthermore, the issuer must supply a thorough explanation of the reasons that management considers the transaction has been made under fair conditions or that adequate compensation has been secured, for example, by informing if any tendering procedures were used or other procedures followed and their respective results; or if such procedures were not undertaken, an clarification of the reasons. The issuer must also provide the reasons that a related party was selected to engage in the transaction rather than third parties; and provide a detailed description of measures adopted to assure that the transaction was made under fair market conditions. Additional, more detailed disclosure requirements are established for related party loans, such as criteria used to determine the borrower's credit risks and the interest rate offered in comparison to other loans that the borrower has received.

In addition, Law 4.595/64, Article 34 prohibits loan operations to directors of financial institutions and affiliated companies, and to a number of other related parties such as officers and members of its advisory, administrative, fiscal or similar boards, their spouses and relatives up to the 2nd degree; or to natural persons holding more than 10% of the financial institution's joint stock.

Protection of minority shareholders in related party transactions involving a parent company, subsidiaries or associates is also regulated by article 264, which grant an exit right in certain situations.

3.6. Other corporate governance issues for groups

Board duties and treatment of conflicts of interest

Brazilian legislation prohibits administrators (supervisory and management board members) of *de facto* or *de jure groups* from acting for the benefit of one company in detriment to another. More specifically, article 245 provides for the liability of directors of parent companies in *de facto* economic groups, requiring administrators to ensure that transactions carried out between companies of a group be impartial or have proper compensation. Impartiality is assessed through a fairness test, which takes into account a comparison with other transactions conducted on market terms, as well as convenience and opportunity criteria in carrying out the transaction. Administrators are liable before the company for possible damages arising from violation of this provision.

In the case of *de jure groups*, administrators of associate groups are required to observe general guidelines and instructions issued by group administrators that do not violate statutes or group agreements, without prejudice to their duties, powers and responsibilities in accordance with their by-laws.

Furthermore, Article 156 dealing with conflicts of interest prohibits administrators from acting in any corporate transaction in which there is a conflicting interest with the company, since an administrator can only contract with the company under reasonable and fair conditions, similar to those prevailing on the market or to those under which the company would contract with third parties.

Article 115 further restricts shareholders from voting on general meeting resolutions concerning the approval of an appraisal report regarding assets which that shareholder has contributed for the formation of the corporation's share capital, of that shareholder's accounts as a corporation administrator, or of any other resolution which may benefit that shareholder personally or in which that shareholder may have a conflict of interest with the company.

Brazil does not have any restrictions with respect to interlocking board members. However, administrators and other employees of a company, associate company, parent company or companies belonging to the same group may not be elected to serve as fiscal council members. This restriction also applies to persons related to the company's administrators or their spouses.

There are no differing requirements from those established for listed companies in general for *de facto* groups with respect to the use of audit committees, fiscal councils and other restrictions, such as on the rotation of external auditors. However, for *de jure groups*, minority shareholders with 5% or more of voting or preferred (non-voting) shares have the right to require the installation of a fiscal council (article 277). The fiscal council of a company that

is part of a *de jure group* may request that the board of the parent company or of other member companies provide it with information and explanations it deems necessary to monitor or verify compliance with the group's agreement.

3.7. Corporate governance issues for multinational economic groups

CVM has had no international enforcement cases in the last five years regarding corporate governance issues.

The CVM is a signatory to the IOSCO Multilateral Memorandum of Understanding (IOSCO MMOU). Additionally, it has signed around 30 bilateral Memoranda of Understanding with foreign securities regulators for consultation, enforcement and exchange of information.

When a company registered with the CVM has associates in other jurisdictions and such entities are included in the company's financial statements, the CVM shall request information directly to the company in Brazil and its local auditor, and both are responsible and liable to render information to the CVM.

The CVM may also perform on-site inspections and, if additional information is required, the CVM may request the assistance of foreign regulators under the aforementioned memoranda whether or not the parent company is headquartered in Brazil.

Additionally, in recent cases regarding transactions in which some of the companies were in different jurisdictions, CVM and the other relevant regulator have interacted through conference calls aimed at sharing views and impressions on such transactions, as well as at discussing how local law would apply to the relevant issues.

3.8. Policy options for consideration

CVM's survey response reported that it was not considering any of the policy options forwarded for consideration in the OECD questionnaire. However, in June 2015, CVM enacted new regulation on disclosure of corporate reorganizations. The new regulation had special provisions on transactions that involve economic group companies. It requires, for example, detailed information on the negotiation process, other alternatives considered by the management to the transaction and its form, and justification of why management believes the transaction is fair to the company.

Notes

1. All subsequent legal references in this chapter relate to the Corporation Act.

- 2. Brazilian corporations have a two-tier board system which includes a supervisory board, generally referred to as the board of directors (Consejo de Admnistraçao) elected by shareholders, and a management board or board of executive officers (Diretora), whose members are appointed by the supervisory board. However, the CEO, who chairs the management board, may also serve on and Chair the supervisory board. Brazil's questionnaire response (and this chapter) refers to "directors" as members of the supervisory board, "officers" for executive board members, and "administrator" when referring to provisions that apply to both directors and officers.
- 3. CVM also has signed co-operation and information exchange agreements with other supervisory bodies including 1) the Superintendence of Private Insurance (SUSEP); 2) the Financial Activities Control Council (responsible for surveillance and discipline with respect to illegal activities related to money laundering); 3) the Internal Revenue Office (RFB); and 4) the National Electric Power Agency (ANEEL).
- 4. An English translation of CVM Instruction 480/09, setting out the specific disclosure requirements, may be found at www.cvm.gov.br/ingl/regu/CVMINST_480.asp.
- 5. Under article 161 of the Corporation Act, a corporation shall establish a fiscal council, which may be either permanent or appointed for a specific fiscal year upon request of shareholders holding at least 5% of the outstanding shares of the company. The fiscal council is an oversight body having only an advisory role and does not participate in management. It is charged mainly with overseeing financial management and reporting of a corporation. The responsibilities of the Fiscal Council may be more fully described in its charter ("regimento interno") or in the by-laws of the company, which may build on the statutory responsibilities of the Fiscal Council. However, the core duties of the Fiscal Council are established by article 163 of the Corporation Law, according to which the Fiscal Council has the following legal authorities:
 - a) to supervise the acts of the officers and ensure that they comply with their legal and statutory duties;
 - to provide an opinion on management's annual report and include supplementary information deemed necessary or useful for deliberation at a general meeting;
 - c) to provide an opinion on proposals of the administrative bodies to be submitted to a general meeting, regarding alteration of share capital, issuing of corporate bonds or subscription bonuses, investment plans or capital budgets, dividend distribution, transformation, merger, consolidation or division;
 - d) to report any error, fraud or criminal acts it may discover to the administrative bodies and, if those fail to take the necessary steps to protect the corporation's interests, report matters to a general meeting suggesting an appropriate course of action;
 - e) to summon the annual general meeting should the administrative bodies delay doing so for more than one month, and an extraordinary general meeting whenever serious or urgent matters occur, including in the agenda of the meeting such matters as it may deem necessary;
 - f) to examine, at least every three months, the trial balance sheet and other financial statements periodically prepared by the corporation;
 - g) to examine the accounts and financial statements for the fiscal year and to provide an opinion on them;
 - h) to exercise such responsibilities during a liquidation, taking into account the special provisions which regulate liquidations.

The Fiscal Council comprises a minimum of 3 and a maximum of 5 members, who are elected by a shareholder vote and, accordingly, controlling shareholders typically elect a majority of its members. Holders of preferred, non-voting shares are entitled to elect one member of the Fiscal Council. Non-controlling holders of voting shares representing at least 10% of all voting shares may also elect one member of the Fiscal Council. The members of the Fiscal Council have fiduciary duties and are accountable to the company for any failure to fulfill their statutory and corporate responsibilities.

Chapter 4

Chile

The Superintendence of Securities and Insurance (Superintendencia de Valores v Seguros – SVS) reported that there were 117 business groups in Chile as of September 2014, most of which contain listed companies. The chapter summarises how company groups are defined under Chile's legal framework, how responsibilities for their oversight are divided and co-ordinated, and how minority shareholder rights are regulated and enforced. Most group-specific provisions deal with disclosure, including of group control structures, and related party transactions. The SVS may suspend transactions between companies of the same group under certain conditions, including when assets under management are at risk due to financial distress of the entity or its related parties. The Chilean authorities reported that they were reviewing systemic risks derived from business groups, focusing particularly on financial and mixed groups with an international presence, and also taking account of prominent recent enforcement cases involving groups.

4.1. Data: Relevance of company and economic groups for the economy

The presence of business groups in Chile is extensive and has been so historically. According to data provided by the Superintendence of Securities and Insurance (SVS), as of September 2014 there were 117 business groups in Chile, including financial and non-financial firms; groups having dominant financial members are also labeled as financial conglomerates. Approximately 55% of business groups under supervision of the SVS and the Superintendence of Banks and Financial Institutions (SBIF) have at least one of their members listed on the Santiago Stock Exchange.

Business groups have grown in number since 2002, but they have remained somehow stable in the last years (see graph). The OECD, in its review of Chile's compliance with good corporate governance practices, has also remarked the relevance of business groups when it comes to listed firms (OECD, 2011).

Figure 4.1. **Number of Business Groups in Chile**End-year data; 2014 as of September

Source: Data provided by the Securities and Insurance Commission of Chile.

Lefort and Walker (2007), using a different methodology to identify groups, assert that the 50 largest business groups had ownership control of more than 70% of listed non-financial firms that represented 91% of total market capitalization in the Santiago Stock Exchange in 2002.

In the case of financial conglomerates, they also have important systemic relevance to the Chilean economy, with the assets of the 15 largest conglomerates representing 160% of Chilean GDP as of 2011 Central Bank of Chile (2013). Financial and mixed conglomerates – usually led by a bank – have an important presence in the insurance sector, pension funds management and with respect to other financial intermediaries². For instance, as of 2011, the 15 largest financial and mixed conglomerates accounted for 83% of the banking system's assets, 72% of assets managed by pension funds, 58% of insurance companies' assets, and 77% of non-bank credit card portfolios. Out of those 15 conglomerates, nine of them are exclusively financial, and the remaining six are of the mixed type; moreover, about half of the conglomerates have an international presence.³

4.2. Definitions

Provisions with respect to business groups are mostly included in the Securities Market Law (SML) in chapter XV. The SML defines business groups as groups of entities that have relations in their ownership, management or credit liabilities presuming that their economic or financial behavior is guided by common interests of the group or subordinated to them, or that there are common financial risks in their liabilities or in acquisition of securities issued by them.

By Law, all the entities with a common controller are considered to be part of the same business group. Moreover, controlling shareholders are defined as those (individually or a group of individuals/firms acting in concert) that have the power to secure a majority of votes in the shareholders general assembly to appoint a majority of the board of directors, or to decisively influence the management of the firm. Acting in concert is also defined in the legislation, while individuals or firms acting in concert are regarded as members of a controlling entity of a group. Also, if a foreign shareholder of a company cannot be properly identified, it is presumed that it acts in conjunction with the largest shareholder. In addition to these legal definitions, the regulatory authority (SVS) has the power to determine that a firm is part of a business group if certain conditions are met.⁴

With respect to the composition of business groups, there is neither legal differentiation of treatment between different types of groups, nor restriction with respect to the participation of financial institutions in business groups. Nevertheless, from a functional perspective, there are certain prudential provisions in the specific legal framework (e.g. banking law) that restrict exposure to risk across firms within a business group to limit regulatory arbitrage and contagion. A recent modification of the banking law allows the regulatory authority (SBIF) to request bank information (on ownership,

related-parties transactions, etc.) from firms that are part of the same business group that could put the financial situation of the bank at risk.

In such a context, the regulatory and supervisory framework is not integrated. Banks and similar financial entities such as those providing credit are under the regulation of the SBIF; listed firms, capital market brokers and fund managers, and insurance companies are the domain of the SVS, while pension funds managers are regulated and supervised by the Superintendence of Pensions (SP).

Coordination among them occurs at two levels. First, the Chairmen's Committee created in 2001 gathers together the Chairmen of the SVS, the SP and the SBIF as a formal instance for effective regulatory coordination and the sharing of experiences. And second, the Financial Stability Council created in 2011 (and reformed in 2014) is comprised by the Minister of Finance and the Chairmen of the SVS, the SP and the SBIF; the Central Bank provides technical assistance to (and participates in) the Council. It is used for technical coordination and information-sharing, mainly on financial stability issues.

4.3. Protection of minority shareholder rights: Regulatory oversight and enforcement

Most provisions aiming at protecting rights of minority shareholders and other incumbents in the case of companies that are part of business groups deal with disclosure requirements and related-party transactions (RPTs) regulations.

In the case of disclosure, listed companies are required to prepare their financial statements on a consolidated basis (IFRS), and to disclose information about business groups in their annual reports. The Securities Market Law grants to the SVS the power to request additional information from its supervised entities' business groups in order to make a determination on the significant commercial relations they have or the financial situation of the supervised entity.

Disclosure of control structures of listed companies is required by the SVS under provisions of the SML; the SVS has the authority to request information from supervised entities in order to determine their ownership relations, controllers and business groups they belong to. This information is gathered during the registration process, from the financial statements (IFRS – quarterly and annually based); and as a permanent disclosure requirement in case changes in ownership occur. Compliance in this regard is not subject to specific thresholds.

RPTs have to comply with certain requirements as per the SML, Corporations Law (CL) and SVS regulations; however, these regulations are applicable to RPTs in general, and don't distinguish whether the firm is part of a business group. In the case of listed companies, Chapter XVI of the CL

establishes that related-party transactions – in addition to the arm's length requirement – shall be subject to a number of specific procedures before taking place: disclosure of directors/managers that are related to the company undertaking such transaction, approval of a majority of the board (excluding the board members mentioned above); approval by unanimity of the directors not involved in the transaction (when the majority of the board directors are excluded of the vote). If voting directors cannot reach a majority, then unanimity is required or an extraordinary shareholders general assembly shall be convened and an independent assessment of the transaction shall be conducted for the reference of such assembly (approval in this latter case requires a two-thirds majority); and an independent assessment of the transaction shall be conducted for the reference of such assembly; *ex post*, the board shall inform shareholders general assembly of such transactions.

Infractions related to any of the above mentioned conditions will grant the company or its shareholders the right to redress equivalent to the loss that such transaction caused to the company plus any other compensation for the damages it may cost. Exceptions to these procedures are established for low-value transactions, repeated transactions (a general agreement on how to proceed in this case shall exist and be reported to shareholders), and in the case where the parties involved are related through cross ownership exceeding 95% of shares.

Specific to business groups, the legal framework grants special powers to regulators with respect to their RPTs. For example, the SVS is empowered to suspend transactions between companies of the same group if one of those companies is a market intermediary, a supervised fund manager, a life insurance company or a securitization entity in those cases where their assets under management are at risk due to financial distress of the entity or its related parties.⁶

4.4. Other corporate governance issues for groups

Listed members of a business group aren't subject to additional specific regulations or requirements other than those applicable to individual firms. Nevertheless, the Corporations Law grants the director of a holding firm the right to attend, without voting rights, the board sessions of the subsidiaries. Also, by law, neither a director of the subsidiary can be elected as independent director of the holding company or the director of main competitors, clients or suppliers.

General Regulation #341 of 2012 issued by the SVS requires listed companies to disclose information on whether they have adopted a number of practices of good corporate governance. However, this guide doesn't include specific provisions with respect to corporate governance of company groups.

4.5. Corporate governance issues for multinational economic groups

As was already mentioned, a significant share of business groups have operations in domestic and foreign markets.

The SVS has not yet confronted situations involving international business groups. Although Chile is not a signatory of the IOSCO Multilateral MOU, the SVS has stressed that is jointly working with other jurisdictions to ensure effective surveillance and enforcement of multinational economic groups and to ensure compliance with corporate governance-related requirements through bilateral MOUs.

The SVS has signed 26 MOUs with different countries; in particular, with Peru, Colombia and Mexico there are several MOUs signed between domestic regulators in order to supervise and exchange information in the framework of the MILA agreement. These agreements primarily refer to infringements of the stock exchanges rulings, rather than corporate governance issues. In particular, the aforementioned MOUs establish that the country where an infringement is committed will initiate the enforcement procedure, but with cooperation of other regulators in case the issuer's primary location is in another country.

4.6. Policy options for consideration

Chilean authorities expressed primary concern with respect to potential damages arising from weak corporate governance in business groups involving financial conglomerates; this is due to their relevance and financial stability implications. In recent years, these considerations have expanded also to business groups that are not necessarily financial groups, but mixed and with an international presence.

The SVS under the Financial Stability Council was in the process of identifying and evaluating systemic risks derived from business groups in general, so as to better understand their functioning and react accordingly when needed. Also, based on the outcome of a publicly well-known case⁷ that was recently sanctioned by the SVS in relation to a set of transactions that might have affected the interests of minority shareholders of a Chilean business group, the SVS reported that it was evaluating possible policy actions that may be needed in order to properly protect, in the future, those minority interests. The SVS was also investigating a case that was triggered by a report made by the internal revenue service (SII) about expenses made by a firm that were registered as professional fees paid to relatives of some of the controlling shareholders of the group.⁸

Notes

- 1. Reported business groups are those whose members -at least one of them- are either under regulation of the SVS (stockbrokers, insurance and reinsurance companies, fund managers) and/or the Superintendence of Banks and Financial Institutions (banks and non-banking credit institutions).
- 2. For example, credit card companies associated with retail businesses.
- 3. Either foreign groups with a presence in Chile or through Chilean parent companies with a presence overseas.
- 4. This may include any of the following conditions: a) a significant part of the assets of the firm are invested in a group (through securities, credits, collaterals, etc.); b) indebtedness levels are high while the business group is a relevant claimant and/or guarantor of such debt; c) the firm is a member of a group of shareholders of a controlling company; and d) if the firm is controlled by one or more members of the controlling entity of any part of the business group.
- 5. Central Bank authorities may also be invited to participate in the meetings.
- 6. Art. 4 (u) of Decree-Law No. 3538 that created the SVS and that sets out its responsibilities and powers.
- 7. The Cascadas case.
- 8. The Grupo Penta case; the group comprises firms in the insurance sector, investment banking, stockbroking, real estate, etc.

Chapter 5

Colombia

Company groups are a growing presence in the Colombian economy. Forty of 77 listed companies are part of a business group, and 12 are part of the COLCAP main index, representing more than 60% of COLCAP traded shares. The chapter summarises how company groups are defined in Colombia, how responsibilities for their oversight are allocated, and how minority shareholder rights are regulated and enforced. A key provision requires groups to prepare a "Group Special Report" for annual general meetings describing the contracts, operations and economic relations among controlled and controlling companies. In addition, Colombia's 2014 revised Country Code includes numerous good practice recommendations specifically targeted for groups. Finally, the government reported considering legislation to strengthen the authority of the Financial Superintendency (SFC) to supervise financial holding companies, and to clarify SFC authority over non-financial companies that are part of a supervised group.

5.1. Colombian company groups

Business groups have had great importance for the Colombian economy. During the last decade, Colombian economic groups have significantly expanded their presence, due to the increase in M&A opportunities created by the disinvestment of American and European companies in Latin America, particularly following the 2008-09 financial crises. During this period, Colombian groups not only became more important for the domestic economy, but an increasing number have also become "Multilatina" groups.

The Colombian Stock Exchange (hereinafter BVC) has 40 listed companies out of 77 that are part of a business group; 28 of them are holding companies and 12 are subsidiaries. Among the 40 companies that are part of a business group, 12 are part of the COLCAP², and represent more than 60% of the shares that are traded among companies that form the COLCAP index.

Ecopetrol is the largest company, as well as the biggest Colombian group. Ecopetrol is a listed SOE (both on BVC and NYSE) and is the fourth largest oil company in Latin America. Although 88%-owned by the state, Ecopetrol also has the largest number of shareholders, with more than 400 000 private minority shareholders. Groups controlled by the State (issuers of stock or debt or not listed), play an important role in the Colombian economy. Business groups such as Ecopetrol, ISA, EPM, and EEB, that are also "Multilatinas" and controlled by the national or local governments, raise a particular challenge for corporate governance in the country. The challenges for this type of stateowned business group stem from being an SOE that competes with the private sector, embedded in a business group structure, in which the business model is based on partnerships or joint ventures with local or international minority shareholders (sometimes other SOEs).

Other relevant groups in Colombia are financial conglomerates, including: "Grupo Aval", "Grupo Bancolombia", "Grupo Bolivar", "BBVA" and "Corpbanca-Helm". These financial institutions have almost 67% of the total assets of the Colombian financial system.³ Recently, Colombian banks have been acquiring important positions in Central America.

"Grupo Argos" is the biggest non-financial, private group in Colombia, with local and international business presence in sectors such as cement, energy, ports, coal and real estate.

In addition to these formally defined company groups, the Grupo Empresarial Antioqueño (GEA), while not formally defined nor registered as a business group under Colombian regulation, is nevertheless understood by investors as an economically important conglomerate of informally related companies. GEA encompasses three registered business groups: Grupo SURA, Grupo Nutresa and Grupo Argos, which, while functioning independently, have some common shareholders as well as some business synergies, involving consolidated market capitalisation of more than USD 54 billion and including more than 120 listed and non-listed companies, including the country's largest individual bank, Bancolombia.

Consideration of the corporate governance of company groups in Colombia has prompted an interesting discussion on how to define fiduciary duties of boards of directors in subsidiary companies and to whom they are due (group, holding or subsidiary). Also the recent developments of M&A in the region, previously mentioned, have created new challenges for Colombian groups in terms of corporate governance. The new Country Code (2014) provides a clearer spectrum for self-regulation of company groups and recommends that holding companies develop and disclose corporate policies across a range of governance elements (as discussed in greater detail in Section 6 of this chapter: "New Corporate Governance Benchmark in Colombia").

5.2. Definition and Regulation of Colombian Company Groups

Local regulation defines a business group as a set of companies in which there is a relationship of subordination with regard to the same holding company, as well as an agreement of subordination with a "unit of purpose and direction". In Colombia, there is a regulatory difference between "control situations" and "business groups". To be considered a business group, it should have a control situation (being controlled by another company/ subordination); and common purpose and strategy.

Control Situations/Subordination

Colombian regulation stipulates that whenever decisions of the company are in the hands of a person outside of the company, it is a controlled entity. It has three additional declarative presumptions in which a company should be considered controlled:

- If more than 50% of its ownership belongs to a holding company, directly or through other subsidiaries.
- If a holding company and its subsidiaries control the shareholders meeting, or have the right to elect a majority of board of directors.
- If a holding company or its subsidiaries exercise control or significant influence over the decision-making process of the company.

Common Purpose and Strategy

Colombian corporate law⁴ allows "unit of purpose and direction" of business groups in Colombia. Nevertheless, the Commercial Code does not refer specifically to board duties in subsidiary companies, so it is unclear if fiduciary duties in the context of business groups can be self-regulated to recognise the "unit of purpose and direction" and the interest of a group as a whole. This has created a legal and academic discussion in the country. There is one view that recognises the possibility of a consolidated group interest above the subsidiaries' interests. On the other hand, some academics and corporate lawyers believe Colombian corporate law does not allow for differentiation of duties for boards of subsidiaries. Lastly, the new Colombian Country Code (local standard of corporate governance) recognises the possibility of self-regulation for business groups on this topic.⁵

5.3. Supervision of Colombian company groups

In Colombia, groups supervision is divided between Supersociedades (hereinafter "Companies Superintendence") and the Financial Superintendency (SFC); however there are several other public bodies that may supervise specific aspects of business groups.

SFC is in charge of supervising business groups with financial activities, as well as individual companies (financial and non-financial) within a group that are listed. The Companies Superintendence is responsible for supervising business groups with non-financial activities.⁶

If a group undertakes significant activities associated with financial institutions, insurance companies or stock issuers, prudential regulation applies, and these types of groups are subject to the supervision of SFC. If a group is comprised by companies with financial and non-financial activities, supervision can be jointly exercised by SFC and the Companies Superintendence.⁷

Colombian groups are required to consolidate financial statements and report them to the supervisor (SFC or Supersociedades) and tax authorities. Also Colombian groups must prepare an annual "Group Special Report" to AGMs describing the contracts, operations and "economic relations" between controlled and controlling companies. This "Group Special Report" must include the major decisions made by the controlled company that are the product of being influenced by a holding company; and major decisions made by the controlling company to protect the interest of the controlled company.

Finally, the SFC reviews semi-annually the shareholding structure reported by supervised institutions (mainly financial institutions). The SFC regular supervision for groups includes:

Understanding of the ownership structure;

- Analysis of consolidated financial positions;
- Monitoring of related party transactions;
- Levels of concentration of risks and the control environment within the conglomerate; and supervision of off-shore investments.⁸

5.4. Restrictions on Colombian company groups

Only a few restrictions limit the investments of financial companies within groups; this facilitates the development and increases the importance of financial conglomerates in the country.

In general, financial institutions can be a parent or subordinate to other financial institutions or non-financial companies with some exceptions:

- A financial institution is restricted from being a shareholder of another institution with the same regulated activity (e.g. banks cannot be shareholders of other banks);
- Credit institutions (all financial institutions that may provide credit) can only be shareholders of trust companies, brokers and managers of pension funds if they control it (over 51% ownership);
- Investments of credit institutions in the real sector are only allowed through
 a special vehicle called "financial corporations." In addition, an exception is
 allowed for credit institutions to invest in a company created to provide goods
 or services to the financial institution (e.g. a security company created by a
 financial institution to provide guards and security services to the financial
 entity);
- Insurance companies can only invest their technical reserves in banks and financial services entities up to 10% of the equity, 10% of converted bonds and only if this investment does not exceed 10% of the total portfolio of the insurance company.

As mentioned before, SFC is the supervisor of issuers (of equity and other securities) and financial institutions. Regarding securities issuers, SFC is responsible for oversight of regulatory compliance with respect to securities market rules, especially disclosure of information and minority shareholder protection.

Securities issuers, including listed companies, must disclose to the market via the National Registry of Securities and Issuers (hereinafter SIMEV), all corporate reorganisations, such as mergers, acquisitions, spin-offs and transfers of assets, liabilities and contracts, as well as report all material information. The SFC requires securities issuers to report in several areas, including, among others:

Top 20 shareholders;

- Any change in corporate control;
- Changes in the threshold over 5% with the same beneficial owner;
- Directors and top officers' purchases or sales of stock, directly or through related parties;
- Major corporate decisions such as mergers, takeovers, stock issuance, buyback programs, among others.

In Colombia, corporate law imposes some restrictions between voting rights and cash-flow rights that are applicable to every company, not only groups. For company groups, Colombian corporate law only restricts subsidiaries to have stock of their own holding company.

The Colombian Commercial Code has a "one-share, one-vote" provision for ordinary shares; however, privileged and preferential dividend stock without voting rights is allowed. Actually most of the recent public stock issuances in the local market have been of preferred or privileged shares.

There are several other corporate provisions to mitigate the risk of minority rights expropriation (that applies to every kind of company, not only groups), including, among others:

- Shareholders may have a preemptive right in every new stock issuing to mitigate the risk of dilution.
- To distribute less than 50% of annual earnings, the shareholders meeting must approve it first, with at least 78% of stockholders present in the meeting.
- If a company has accumulated capital reserves (required by regulation, bylaw or defined by its shareholders), it must distribute at least 50% of its annual earnings in dividends.
- Shareholder agreements are required to be registered by the company. If a company is a securities issuer, all shareholder agreements must be disclosed via SIMEV. If the agreement is not disclosed, it is not legally binding.
- For listed companies, any stock transaction over USD 7 000⁹ must be performed through a stock exchange.
- Any ultimate beneficial owner interested in acquiring 25% or more stock of a listed company must proceed through a public tender offer. Any beneficial owner with 25% or more, interested in acquiring 5% or more of additional stock shall also proceed through a tender offer.

5.5. Related party¹⁰ transactions and conflicts of interest

In Colombia, there are no special provisions for related party transactions for groups. However, there are several disclosure duties that should be

considered, and in the context of financial conglomerates, there are also special restrictions on investments and transactions.

The country began implementing International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in 2014. As part of the transition, the first groups of companies (mainly listed and financial institutions) reported to SFC their annual financial statements both under Colombian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and IFRS in 2014, and were required to publicly disclose their IFRS-based reports in 2015. The implementation of IFRS including IAS24 setting out standards for the reporting of related party transactions will change reporting of RPTs. Currently, only the "Special Groups Report", previously described, is required.

Issuers which are part of a group must disclose in their financial statements the following information: type of transaction and amounts of operations made within the group during the fiscal year; and if these transactions were conducted at market value. For transaction not conducted at "market value", the reasons and effects must be reported.

Additionally, for financial conglomerates, a dispersed set of rules restrict investments or transactions, including the following:

- Subsidiaries of financial conglomerates are not allowed to acquire stock of their holding company; and trust companies, stock brokers and AFPs cannot trade, acquire or guarantee securities issued by their parent company.
- Credit institutions are not allowed to lend to their shareholders with over 20% of equity in the credit institution a sum equivalent to more than 20% of the net worth of the financial institution.
- Mutual fund investments in issuers of the same group must be traded through a stock exchange.
- Stock brokers are required to have a formal policy and procedures to manage conflicts of interest. These guidelines must be included in their corporate governance code. These provisions may include among others: "chinese walls" with trading areas; limits to operate with securities of related companies; and restrictions to OTC operations.
- AFPs regime restricts to 10% investments in securities of affiliated companies of the AFP manager.

Colombian corporate law is very limited with respect to conflicts of interests. One specific provision requires directors and officers to refrain from participating in activities that represent a permanent conflict of interest with its company, unless expressly authorized by the AGM. However, a broader interpretation of fiduciary duties, specifically duty of loyalty, creates a more complete set of standards regarding conflicts of interests.

The other aspect that is critical for the corporate governance of groups is associated with protecting creditors' rights. In Colombia there is a presumption

of responsibility of the holding company in cases in which a subsidiary is insolvent 11

There are no specific rules or restrictions for interlocking boards in Colombia. However the rules requiring 25% of board members to be independent¹² apply to all issuers, including holdings and subsidiaries of groups. And there is a general restriction in which no person is allowed to have more than five board seats.

Colombia has not established specific rules for groups on control environments. However, the Country Code recommends several best practices to strengthen audit, risks and controls in the context of business groups (see Section below, "New Corporate Governance Benchmark in Colombia"). An audit committee is required for all issuers and financial institutions, comprised by independent directors.

As mentioned above, the cross-border growth of Colombian groups has been substantial during the last decade. This situation has prompted SFC to establish several bilateral and multilateral MOUs to access to international information about Colombian financial conglomerates that operate abroad. Currently there are 20 bilateral MOUs and 11 multilateral agreements signed by the SFC.

5.6. New corporate governance benchmark in Colombia

SFC with the support of several private business associations, launched new corporate governance guidelines in the country ("Country Code") in September, 2014. This new Country Code includes several non-mandatory provisions¹³ for groups, including the following:

- Annual corporate governance reports for groups should include a clear and integral view of all the subsidiaries, in order to provide to the public an informed opinion of organization, complexity, activities, size and corporate governance model of the group.
- Boards of holding companies should promote a control environment with a consolidated scope that includes all subsidiaries, defining policies and clear reporting lines to have an integrated risk view of the group.
- Risk management should be managed in a consolidated manner.
- For some groups, it is recommended to have a chief risk officer with scope and authority over all subsidiaries.
- The new Code allows a self-regulatory regime for boards of holding companies in which it recommends that:
 - The holding company board should have an integral authority and the decision-making process relating to the entire group should be clearly defined.

- * The holding company board should have the authority to define the ownership structure, corporate governance model, management of conflicts of interests, financial and investment policies of the group.
- The board or executive committees of parent companies should coordinate responsibilities with decision-makers of subsidiaries.
- The subsidiary board may decide not to create board committees to deal with certain matters that may be assumed by the holding company or its board committees. However, this is not intended to imply a transfer of the responsibilities of subordinate boards to the holding company.
- The holding company should require board evaluations for all boards within a group.
- The holding company board should create a "related parties map" in which board members and executives report their relationships that may create conflicts of interests.
- The holding company board should establish a formal Related Party Transactions Policy in which it defines the procedure to evaluate, approve and disclose related party transactions.

5.7. Policy options for consideration

The SFC reported that it was considering legislation to strengthen SFC's authority to supervise financial holding companies, and to clarify SFC supervision authority of non-financial companies that are part of a supervised group.

Notes

- 1. Multilatinas are defined by the Economic Commission for Latin America (ECLAC) as transnational corporations with operations in Latin America.
- 2. COLCAP is the main stock index of the BVC, comprised of the 20 issuers with the most liquid shares in the market.
- 3. According to the Colombia Financial Superintendency.
- 4. According to Law 222 of 1995 art. 28.
- 5. The new country code issued by SFC refers to a principle of group interests and mentions the possibility of recognizing a unit group.
- 6. According to Decree 4350 of 2006.
- 7. According to Art. 3 Lit. b) No. 2. Decree 4350 of 2006.
- 8. Such supervision consists primarily of reviewing how the holding company in Colombia monitors or follows up with its subordinates abroad. Supervision of entities abroad remains the primary responsibility of the jurisdiction where it is located. Nevertheless, SFC can and does conduct in practice some cross-border inspections of subordinates abroad.

- 9. This value corresponds to 66 000 UVR (Unidades de Valor Real). For 2014 this amount was about COL \$14 097 600.
- 10. The Related Party Transactions Task Force of the Latin American Corporate Governance Roundtable explained in detail about RPTs in Colombia in its 2013 report available at: www.oecd.org/daf/ca/LatinAmericanReportonRelatedPartyTransactions.pdf.
- 11. According to art. 61 Ley 1116 de 2006.
- 12. According to art. 44 Ley 964 de 2005.
- 13. The Code is based on a "comply or explain" model; the first reports against the code's recommendations will be required beginning in January 2016. Available in English and Spanish at: www.superfinanciera.gov.co/jsp/loader.jsf?lServicio=Publicaciones&lTipo=publicaciones&lFuncion=loadContenidoPublicacion&id=10083770.

Chapter 6

Mexico

As of October 2014, 98% of Mexican listed firms were part of a business group, representing 99.8% of total market capitalisation. The chapter summarises how company groups are defined in Mexico and how supervision is co-ordinated. The National Banking and Securities Commission (CNBV) maintains responsibility for listed companies and banks, facilitating a consolidated approach to supervision of business groups. The Financial Groups Law (LRAF) was reformed in 2014, establishing a number of governance measures for financial conglomerates, and formalising co-operation between the CNBV and other relevant institutions. Group-specific requirements in Mexico include disclosure of the ownership structure and members of the group, including their subsidiaries and operations abroad, changes in the ownership structure, and consolidated financial reporting based on IFRS requirements. The report also describes restrictions on external auditors of group companies and employees of such groups serving as independent board members for companies within the group.

6.1. Data: Relevance of company and economic groups for the economy

Business groups in Mexico are large and relevant, mainly due to the fact that the largest firms in Mexico are part of a group. Historically, the largest business groups were formed through a combination of a company expanding into new business lines, and of companies merging or acquiring other firms. Approximately 60% of business groups are diversified across industries, while the remaining 40% operate in the same or related line of business (vertically integrated). Both types have been relevant for a long time, while their presence in the economy has steadily been growing.

A tax benefit for business groups has been also a key driver explaining the formation and growth of these types of business arrangements. In 2014, a reform to the tax system limited the scope for business groups to reduce their overall tax burden (income tax) through consolidation of tax obligations across holding and subsidiaries.

As of October 2014, 98% of listed firms were part of a business group; and they represented 99.8% of total market capitalization. A large share of those firms (92%) are controlling firms within a group, 6% are subsidiaries within a group and the remaining 2% are simultaneously controlling and controlled entities. There are only two cases where a controlling and a controlled member within a group are listed.

6.2. Definitions

The Mexican legislation has explicitly established what a business group is. The Securities Markets Law (SML) provides some relevant definitions regarding business groups and firms that are related through their shareholders:

- consortium of firms: group of firms having one or more controlling individuals;
- company group: group of firms with common direct or indirect shareholdings by another company (the controller);
- group of people: group of persons having an agreement to make joint and coordinated business decisions.

In the case of financial intermediaries, the Financial Groups Law (LRAF) defines financial conglomerates as a group of financial firms under the control of a common institution; therefore, it is understood that a financial conglomerate

is a company group. Additionally, similar definitions for consortium of firms are embedded into the LRAF.

When it comes to the particular legal and regulatory treatment, the company or companies that are listed in the stock exchange, including those that belong to a business group, shall comply with the provisions of the SML, and with the regulation set forth in the Issuers' Provisions (CUE). Financial intermediaries that are part of a business group or a financial group should adhere to the regulation established in the various laws and provisions related to the financial sector.

Regardless of whether it is part of a business group or not, a financial intermediary (bank, insurance company, pension fund, investment fund, financial cooperative, credit union, financial company or Sofome¹) that is listed in the domestic capital market shall comply with the legal and regulatory framework corresponding to its financial nature. Nevertheless, in the case of shareholders rights and disclosure of the ownership structure, listed financial firms are subject to the provisions of the SML.

In all cases mentioned above, listed firms are subject to the same legal and regulatory requirements (either the SML or financial sector laws) regardless of their being part of a business group or not. Participation of financial firms in business groups is not restricted, although banks are limited in providing financing to related firms (up to 35% of their core capital). No legal or regulatory difference is made with respect to business groups with a common strategy or independently determined by its individual members.

Supervision and regulation of listed firms, banks, brokerage houses, other depositary financial entities, mutual funds, and other financial intermediaries and market participants in the stock and debt markets are carried out mainly by the National Banking and Securities Commission (CNBV). The remaining systemically important players in financial markets – insurance companies and pension funds – are respectively regulated and supervised by the National Commission for Insurance (CNSF) and the National Commission for the Pension System (CONSAR). Tax issues are under the control of the Ministry of Finance (MF).

The fact that banks (larger financial intermediaries) and listed firms are under the supervision of the same authority facilitates a consolidated approach in the case of business groups (company groups and financial conglomerates). The CNBV is empowered to oversee and enforce compliance with SML and financial sector laws, irrespective of being part of a business group. In the case of banks and other financial intermediaries, the CNBV conducts in-situ oversight, a procedure that is less frequent in the case of listed firms.

From a systemic perspective, there is permanent communication between the CNBV, the MF and the Central Bank on matters related to regulations,

especially for financial firms. In 2010, the Financial System Stability Council was created to evaluate and monitor risks to financial stability and to enhance the coordination of the various financial authorities. In January 2014, the FSSC was strengthened with its inclusion in the LRAF, so as to formalize such cooperation and enhance its functioning. It is comprised of the SHCP, CNBV, CONSAR, CNSF, Central Bank of Mexico and the Institute for the Protection of Banking Deposits.

In addition, the recent financial reform, which took place in 2014 and included amendments to various financial and non-financial laws, enhanced the information-sharing processes among regulatory bodies. The CNBV may allow other agencies to participate in in-situ supervision of financial firms, and to inform other regulatory bodies of any development that could affect the stability and/or solvency of a financial firm being supervised. Moreover, prudential regulation on a consolidated basis could be jointly developed by the CNBV, CNSF and CONSAR.

6.3. Protection of minority shareholder rights: Regulatory oversight and enforcement

Most provisions aiming at protecting rights of minority shareholders in the case of companies that are part of business groups deal with disclosure.

There are no limitations on the ownership structure of business groups, other than those applicable to any kind of firm in terms of issuance of ordinary and non-ordinary shares; however, a firm that is controlled by a listed firm is forbidden to acquire shares or any type of ownership right of its controlling parent.²

In the case of disclosure, listed companies that are controlling firms within a business group are required to prepare their financial statements on a consolidated basis (IFRS), and have to report financial information of their controlled entities. If the listed company is a controlled member of a business group, then no financial information about its controlling entity or other firms belonging to the group must be disclosed, except in the case when this controlled firm does indeed control another entity. However, it is obligated to disclose minimum information with respect to the structure of the business group (their members).

Disclosure obligations when changes in the ownership structure of a firm occur are homogenous across listed firms; no specific provision is in place in the case of firms within a business group. Related-party transactions (RPTs) are also subject to the same regulatory treatment regardless the presence of a business group.

6.4. Other corporate governance issues for groups

The duties of care and loyalty for board members included in legislation prohibit them from undertaking actions that could cause a benefit to third-parties (for example, controlling shareholders) at the expense of the firm or other stakeholders. In cases where a conflict of interest arises, then board members shall refrain to participate and vote in such a matter. A minimum of 25% of board members of a listed company are required to meet conditions qualifying them as independent. Individuals with senior responsibilities within a business group do not qualify as independent for the purpose of meeting these requirements.

In addition to general legal requirements for boards, there are soft limitations regarding the appointment of directors and the conditions for independent directors in the case of business groups. On the one hand, a person that has been acting as external auditor of any firm that has been part of a business group in the previous 12 months cannot be appointed to the board of any of the firms of the group. On the other hand, if a person is or has been in the previous 12 months a "relevant" employee of any firm that is part of a business group or consortium or has significant influence over it, he/she cannot be appointed as an independent director (art. 26).

In the case of a listed firm that is a controlled entity, the board's corporate practices committee³ structure is different from other firms not having a controlling shareholder. In the former, a majority of independent members is required, whereas in the latter a full independent composition is mandated by law.⁴ Therefore, firms that are a controlled member of a business group would be subject to such soft or less strict requirement.

6.5. Corporate governance issues for multinational economic groups

Some of the largest Mexican business groups have subsidiaries operating abroad, and in some cases they are listed in foreign capital markets. For regulatory purposes, listed firms in Mexico that are part of a business group shall disclose the complete structure of the group, including their subsidiaries and operations abroad.

The CNBV has collaboration and exchange of information procedures with other regulators that are undertaken through a number of Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs). In particular, the CNBV is signatory of the IOSCO Multilateral MOU concerning consultation and cooperation and exchange of information with other members.

In addition, the reform of LRAF in 2014 provided local authorities (SHCP, CNBV, CONSAR and CNSF) with more power to share information with foreign regulators and also for greater coordination and oversight among them in the

case of financial groups, hence moving towards implementation of a consolidated supervisory approach. For instance, the CNBV may allow other relevant regulators to participate in in-situ supervision of regulated entities that are part of a financial group.

6.6. Policy options for consideration

The CNBV acknowledges the relevance of business groups and considers that current regulations broadly provide protection to minority shareholders and other stakeholders in business groups as part of the whole framework.

The recent reform of the LRAF established a number of governance measures for financial conglomerates that were lacking for those entities, but that were in place for listed firms. The board of directors of a controlling financial firm is embedded with much larger responsibilities than before. Surveillance - previously the responsibility of an internal comptroller or "comisario"- is now under the board's control through the audit committee. The board also has the responsibility to define and implement the business strategy of the group. The board can establish one or more committees to help with corporate practices and audit activities, and these committees should be composed only of independent directors.

Notes

- 1. Non-banking credit company.
- 2. They can only do so indirectly, through mutual funds investments.
- 3. This committee has oversight responsibilities on matters such as board remuneration policies, RPTs, board effectiveness, etc.
- 4. Art. 25 of the SML.

Chapter 7

Peru

Of 233 companies listed on the Lima Stock Exchange (Bolsa de Valores de Lima – BVL), 177 belong to a company group, according to the Superintendency of Securities Markets (Superintendencia del Mercado de Valores – SMV). The chapter summarises how company groups are defined in Peru, and how supervision is co-ordinated, mainly between the SMV and the Banking Superintendency (Superintendencia de Banca y Seguros – SBS). Companies that are part of a group must report on their ownership and shareholding structure, and comply with IFRS consolidated reporting requirements, including for related party transactions. The Peruvian Corporate Governance Code (2013) includes several group-specific recommendations that companies must report on, such as on group-wide risk management and appointment of the external auditor, while a separate code for state-owned enterprises also contains relevant recommendations. New regulation was under preparation to designate entities that may provide fairness opinions for certain types of related party transactions.

7.1. Peruvian company groups

As in other countries in the region, business groups have a major role in the local economy. According to the Superintendency of Securities Markets (hereinafter SMV) 179 out of 233 companies listed on the Lima Stock Exchange (BVL) in 2014 were part of a business group. Moreover, the report "Peru: the top 10 000 Companies 2014", 1 concludes that of the 42 business groups that operate in the country, 19 are Peruvian and 23 are controlled by foreigners. The most relevant business group is the National Fund for Financing of the Business Activity of the State (FONAFE), the central ownership entity of Peruvian SOEs, with revenues of over USD 8.7 billion in 2012; followed by Repsol with revenues of over USD 8.1 billion, and Grupo Romero with USD 4.5 billion. In the local financial system, the biggest financial conglomerate is Credicorp, with revenues of over USD 3.1 billion.

7.2. Definition and regulation of Peruvian company groups

In Peru, local regulation defines business groups in two different contexts: one for groups that participate in the capital markets and the other for groups in the financial system.

Regarding capital markets, the SMV has approved resolution No. 090-2005-EF/94.10, in which the concept of economic group is defined as a set of companies which are subject to control of the same person or the same group of shareholders. However, an exception is considered if the group of shareholders have neither at least 30% of voting rights, nor the capability to elect more than 50% of board members.

Peruvian capital market regulation has two presumptions in which a company should be considered controlled:

- When through direct or indirect ownership of shares, or any kind of agreements or contracts, a shareholder can exercise more than half of voting rights.
- When a shareholder can nominate or remove the majority of the board of directors.

On the other hand, the Banking Superintendency (Superintendencia de Bancos, Seguros y Fondos de Pensiones), defines business groups as a set of companies in which one company exercises control over others, or when a company's control corresponds to one or more persons who act as decision makers. However, it includes a reference to control based on two elements:

"predominant" and "continuing influence" in governing company decisionmaking bodies that can be exercised directly or indirectly.

The Banking Superintendency classifies business groups in three categories: financial, mixed (financial and non-financial companies), and non-financial groups.²

7.3. Supervision of Peruvian company groups

In Peru, according to article no. 138 of the Financial Law, the Banking Superintendency (hereinafter SBS) carries out group supervision of financial and mixed groups in a consolidated manner.

In the case of financial groups, the SBS is empowered to require material financial information on a consolidated basis. In the case of mixed groups, the SBS may use the same authority to supervise any company within a group that contains financial institutions.

Furthermore, according to article No. 29 of the Financial Law, banks, financial and leasing companies are also under the supervision of the SMV due to the fact that they have to be listed on the local stock exchange (BVL). Also, all market regulation recognises that all financial information should be presented following SBS regulation³.

The SMV and the SBS have an inter-institutional cooperation agreement signed in March 2012, to "efficiently support supervision for the Peruvian securities and financial system." Under this agreement, both Superintendencies have the commitment to exchange information, as well as to establish permanent coordination mechanisms, to ensure analogous standards and cost structure optimisations. On top of that, the SBS is part of the board of SMV; this facilitates sharing of information in both entities.

Finally, as in other Latin American markets, a significant number of foreign business groups operate in Peru, which has spurred the SMV and SBS to sign several agreements with foreign supervisory authorities. The SMV in 2012 was admitted as a signatory member to the IOSCO Multilateral Agreement of Understanding on consultation, cooperation and exchange of information. This MOU provides that signatory institutions should provide international cooperation, ensuring effective supervision and monitoring of the activities carried out by entities involved in securities and derivatives markets.

In addition, under the framework of the Latin American integrated market (MILA), in order to ensure the proper functioning of this market, some agreements have also been signed with Chilean and Colombian regulators.

7.4. Disclosure of information regarding company groups

For Peruvian issuers that are part of a group, it is compulsory to submit to the SMV the following information:

- A description of the group to which it belongs, their position within the group (holding or subsidiary), as well as a list of other companies including the consolidated percentage of voting that the group has.
- A report with a list of its shareholders with more than 5% stake, indicating their ownership level, and describing any relation (labor, contract, other) with directors and managers.
- Also, to the extent of the issuer's knowledge, the list of people who exercise control of the group.

On the other hand, a CONASEV (now SMV) resolution⁴ states that issuers must prepare their financial statements with full observation of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Hence, to prepare financial statements, all local issuers are subject to IAS 24, which deals with disclosure of related party transactions.

Additionally, the local Corporate Governance Code for Peruvian companies (2013)⁵ includes in Principle 30 a recommendation to disclose the ownership structure, including, if applicable, whether its ownership includes the participation of a business group.

7.5. Restrictions on Peruvian business groups

The Peruvian capital markets regulation does not have restrictions or limits on control structures in business groups. Nevertheless, the capital markets law (hereinafter LMV) establishes some requirements to minimize conflicts of interests within a group, especially focused on controlling shareholders.

Local regulation defines⁶ the following obligations to issuers:

- It is forbidden for directors and managers to borrow or use company property for their own benefit.
- Boards should approve any transaction that involves more than 5% of company assets, with a person or company linked to its directors, managers or shareholders that have, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the ownership.
- All issuers must report any stock transaction (buy or sell) of a person, directly or indirectly, with more than 10% ownership.
- Any transaction involving more than 1% of the issuance, made by directors or managers, must be reported within 5 days after it is reported to the issuer.
- Also there is a relevant information regime in which listed companies must report by-laws modifications, merger proposals or any other corporate reorganisation.

7.6. Related party transactions and conflicts of interest

In Peru, related party transactions regulation is defined in the Corporate Law (Ley General de Sociedades, hereinafter LGS) which stipulates that company directors can only contract with the company under market conditions. In addition, company directors are responsible for any contract, credit, loan or guarantee held or issued in violation of this principle.

On the other hand, the Peruvian Corporate Governance Code Principle 22 recommends to have a compulsory code of ethics applicable to directors, managers, officials and other employees; to require directors to abstain from voting or participating in decisions that may involve a conflict of interest; and to forbid board members and senior management to receive loans from the company, unless it is a financial institution.

Peruvian regulation does not make any reference to allow, regulate or forbid "interlocking directorships".

7.7. Control environment

The Peruvian Corporate Governance Code Principle 25 recommends to business groups to develop an integrated risk management policy with scope over all subsidiaries, and to assure that the holding board has a clear picture of integrated material risks. Additionally, this corporate risk policy should define roles, authorities and reporting lines required to have a prudent risk management system.

Moreover, for business groups, it is recommended to appoint the same external auditor for all companies, including off-shore subsidiaries. And it is recommended that all companies have an Audit Committee.⁸

For financial institutions, the SBS issued a regulation in January 2008, calling for integrated risk management systems and requiring the establishment of a risk committee with independent directors. A separate SBS regulation requires a rotation of audit partners after five consecutive years. Furthermore, it points out that once this period is concluded, at least two years must elapse before hiring the same auditors.

Finally, SOEs belonging to FONAFE should follow a specific set of recommendations defined in the *Corporate Governance Code of FONAFE*¹¹ which establishes that SOE boards should have audit committees. Principle 27 of this Code also requires that SOEs implement systems and procedures to identify risks and their consequences.

7.8. Policy options for consideration

Peruvian regulators reported that they were considering to regulate Article 51 of the LMV, which forbids any act or contract with persons or companies linked with directors, managers and shareholders with more than 10% ownership, unless it is previously approved by the board and informed by an external fairness opinion. Consequently, the SMV reported that it was in the process of regulating which type of entities can be allowed to prepare this required fairness opinion.

Notes

- 1. According to the publication, "Peru the top 10 000 companies 2014", available at www.ptp.pe/.
- 2. According to article 11 SBS No. 445-2000.
- 3. This regulation is prepared in accordance with the Accounting Manual for the companies of the financial system, approved by resolution SBS No. 895-98, based on international standards of financial information (IFRS).
- 4. CONASEV resolution No. 102-2010EF/94.01.1.
- 5. See www.smv.gob.pe/ConsultasP8/temp/GobCorporativo2013.pdf. The Code's recommendations are voluntary, but companies must disclose whether they comply or explain the reasons for not doing so.
- 6. Article No. 51 of LMV.
- 7. Articles No. 179 and 180.
- 8. The Peruvian Corporate Governance Code, Principles 21 and 27.
- 9. Resolution No. 37-2008 S.B.S.
- 10. Adopted by resolution S.B.S. N ° 17026 2010.
- 11. Approved by agreement No. 002-2013/003-FONAFE.

References

- Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (2015), Corporate Governance Principles for Banks www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d328.htm.
- Bebzcuk, R. (2005), "Corporate Governance and Ownership: Measurement and Impact on Corporate Performance and Dvidend Policy in Argentina", IADB Draft Paper.
- CAF (2013), Guidelines for a Latin American Code of Corporate Governance (Annex I), http://publicaciones.caf.com/media/25389/lineamientos_codigo_latinoamericano.pdf.
- CEF Discussion Note (2011), "Corporate Governance Challenges for Economic Groups", prepared for the 2011 Latin American Corporate Governance Roundtable.
- CEF (2008), "The Role of Institutional Investors in Promoting Good Corporate Governance Practices in Latin America: The Case of Argentina".
- Central Bank of Chile (2013), Financial Stability Report: second-half 2013, www.bcentral.cl/eng/publications/policies/pdf/fsr2_2013.pdf.
- Claessens, S., S. Djankov and L. Lang (2000), "The Separation of Ownership and Control in East Asian Corporations", Journal of Financial Economics 58, pp. 81-112, www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0304405X00000672.
- Conac, P.H. et al. (2007), "Constraining Dominant Shareholders' Self Dealing: The Legal Framework in France, Germany and Italy", ECFR, No. 4/2007, http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1532221.
- Cueto, D. (2008), "Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure in Emerging Markets: Evidence from Latin America", Mimeo.
- Gaggero, A. (2008), "Los Grupos Económicos Nacionales y el proceso de extranjerización del empresariado argentino durante la década de los noventa".
- European Commission (2011), Report of the Reflection Group on the Future of EU Company Law, Brussels, http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/company/docs/modern/reflection group_report_en.pdf.
- European Commission (2002), Report of the High Level Group of Company Law Experts on a Modern Regulatory Framework for Company Law in Europe, Brussels, http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/company/docs/modern/report_en.pdf.
- Fan, J. et al. (2014), "Revisiting the Bright and Dark Sides of Capital Flows in Business Groups", September 2014, http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10551-014-2382-6#.
- Frederick, W. Richard (2014), "Challenges in Group Governance: The Governance of Cross-Border Bank Subsidiaries", IFC Corporate Governance Group Focus 13, www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/c9fb560046efba9b9595fd57143498e5/Focus13.pdf? MOD=AJPERES.
- Joint Forum (2012), "Principles for the supervision of financial conglomerates", September 2012, www.bis.org/publ/joint29.pdf.

- IFC (2014), "Corporate Governance Recommendations for Company Groups Based on Experiences from the Latin American Companies Circle" November 2014.
- Khanna, T. and Y. Yafeh (2005), "Business Groups in Emerging Markets: Paragons or Parasites?", ECGI Finance Working Paper, No. 92, http://pubs.aeaweb.org/doi/pdfplus/10.1257/jel.45.2.331.
- Kirkpatrick, G. (2013), "Company groups and corporate governance: Dealing with related party transactions" (unpublished).
- Kirkpatrick, G. (2004), "Corporate Governance and company groups: Considerations from the OECD Principles" (unpublished: presented at the KDI Conference on Corporate Governance of Group Companies, Seoul, November 2004).
- Lefort and Walker (2007), "Do Markets Penalize Agency Conflicts Between Controlling and Minority Shareholders? Evidence from Chile", The Developing Economies, XLV-3 (September 2007): pp. 283-314. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1746-1049. 2007.00044.x/epdf.
- Li, J. (2003), "Relation-based versus Rule-based Governance: an Explanation of the East Asian Miracle and Asian Crisis", Review of International Economics 11 (4), pp. 651-673, http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/1467-9396.00409/pdf.
- Masulis, R., P. Pham and J. Zein (2011), "Family Business Groups Around the World: Financing Advantages, Control Motivations and Organizational Choices", http://rfs.oxfordjournals.org/content/24/11/3556.full.pdf.
- McCahery, J. and E. Vermeulen (2014), "Corporate Ownership and Groups Revisited: An Introduction to the Six C's of Corporate Governance", Mimeo.
- Mendoza, J. (2013), "The political economy of capital markets in Latin America", Mimeo. http://ssrn.com/abstract=2394781.
- OECD (2015), Principles of Corporate Governance, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- OECD (2012), "Latin American Corporate Governance Roundtable Task Force Report on Related Party Transactions", www.oecd.org/daf/ca/LatinAmericanReportonRelated PartyTransactions.pdf.
- OECD (2012), Related Party Transactions and Minority Shareholder Rights, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264168008-en.
- OECD (2011), Corporate Governance in Chile 2010, Corporate Governance, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264095953-en.
- OECD (2004), OECD Principles of Corporate Governance 2004, OECD Publishing, Paris, http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264015999-en.
- Perotti, E. and S. Gelfer (1999), "Red Barons or Robber Barons? Governance and Financing in Russian FIGs", CEPR Discussion Paper, No. 2204, http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=180442.
- Ramachandran, J. et al. (2013), "Why Conglomerates Thrive (Outside the US)". Harvard Business Review, December 2013, https://hbr.org/2013/12/why-conglomerates-thrive-outside-the-us.

ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT

The OECD is a unique forum where governments work together to address the economic, social and environmental challenges of globalisation. The OECD is also at the forefront of efforts to understand and to help governments respond to new developments and concerns, such as corporate governance, the information economy and the challenges of an ageing population. The Organisation provides a setting where governments can compare policy experiences, seek answers to common problems, identify good practice and work to co-ordinate domestic and international policies.

The OECD member countries are: Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Chile, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, the Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, the United Kingdom and the United States. The European Union takes part in the work of the OECD.

OECD Publishing disseminates widely the results of the Organisation's statistics gathering and research on economic, social and environmental issues, as well as the conventions, guidelines and standards agreed by its members.

Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance of Company Groups in Latin America

Contents

Executive summary

Chapter 1. International and Latin American overview

Chapter 2. Argentina

Chapter 3. Brazil

Chapter 4. Chile

Chapter 5. Colombia

Chapter 6. Mexico

Chapter 7. Peru

Consult this publication on line at http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264241725-en.

This work is published on the OECD iLibrary, which gathers all OECD books, periodicals and statistical databases.

Visit www.oecd-ilibrary.org for more information.





ISBN 978-92-64-24012-4 26 2015 04 1 P

